# Classification of infinitesimal symmetries in covariant classical mechanics

Marco Modugno<sup>1</sup>, Dirk Saller<sup>2</sup>, Jürgen Tolksdorf<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Applied Mathematics, University of Florence Via S. Marta, Florence, Italy email: marco.modugno@unifi.it

> <sup>2</sup>University of Cooperative Education Coblitzweg 7, D-68169 Mannheim, Germany email: saller@ba-mannheim.de

<sup>3</sup>Max Planck Intitute for Mathematics in the Sciences Inselstrasse 22, D-04103 Leipzig, Germany email: tolksdor@mis.mpg.de

Extended version: 2006.03.17. - 17.31. A shortned version appeared in J. Math. Phys. 47, 062903 (2006).

#### Abstract

In the framework of general relativistic classical mechanics on a spacetime with absolute time, we classify the infinitesimal symmetries of the classical structure by means of distinguished Lie subalgebras of the Lie algebra of "special phase functions".

These subalgebras are crucial also for the classification of infinitesimal quantum symmetries, which will be analysed in a forthcoming paper.

Key words: covariant classical mechanics, Lie algebras and symmetries, jets, cosymplectic manifolds. **2000 MSC**: 17B26, 17B81, 37J05, 37J15, 58A20, 55R05, 55R10, 70H33, 83C99.

# Contents

	Intro	oductio	n	4		
1	Cova	Covariant classical mechanics 6				
	1.1	Spacet	time and its structure	6		
		1.1.1	Scale spaces	6		
		1.1.2	Spacetime	6		
		1.1.3	Observers	7		
		1.1.4	Metric field	8		
		1.1.5	Gravitational and electromagnetic fields	9		
		1.1.6	Basic model of spacetime	10		
	1.2	Phase	space and the induced structure	10		
		1.2.1	Classical phase space	10		
		1.2.2	Holonomic prolongation of spacetime vector fields	11		
		1.2.3	Distinguished phase fields	12		
	1.3	Classie	cal mechanics	13		
		1.3.1	Classical kinematics	13		
		1.3.2	Classical dynamics	13		
	1.4	Hamil	tonian methods	14		
		1.4.1	Hamiltonian splitting	14		
		1.4.2	Poisson bracket	15		
		1.4.3	Hamiltonian lift of phase functions	15		
	1.5	Specia	l phase functions	16		
		1.5.1	The sheaf of special phase functions	16		
		1.5.2	Lifts of special phase functions	17		
		1.5.3	Special Lie bracket	18		
		1.5.4	Morphisms of Lie algebras	18		
2	Clas	sical sy	mmetries	20		
	2.1	Subal	gebras of special phase functions	20		
		2.1.1	Subalgebra of conserved special phase functions	20		
		2.1.2	Subalgebra of holonomic functions	22		
		2.1.3	Subalgebra of self-holonomic functions	24		
		2.1.4	Subalgebra of unimodular functions	28		
		2.1.5	Subalgebra of classic generators	29		
	2.2	Classie	cal infinitesimal symmetries	30		
		2.2.1	Infinitesimal symmetries of geometric structures	30		
		2.2.2	Infinitesimal symmetries of spacetime and phase space	31		
		2.2.3	Infinitesimal symmetries of the cosymplectic 2–form	31		
		2.2.4	Infinitesimal symmetries of the classical structure	32		
	2.3	Classie	cal currents	33		
		2.3.1	Functions generated by a horizontal potential	33		

# Contents

2.3.2 2.3.3	Nöther's theorem	34 35
References		42

# Introduction

This paper is the first part of a sequence of two papers. They are aimed at classifying systematically the symmetries of classical and quantum mechanics within the geometric framework of "covariant classical and quantum mechanics".

This framework is a geometric formulation of classical and quantum mechanics on a curved spacetime with absolute time and spacelike Riemannian metric, expressed in a manifestly coordinate free and observer independent way. We assume minimal axioms describing just the fundamental classical interactions, namely the gravitational and electromagnetic fields. The goal of this theory is to combine the standard quantum mechanics with those ideas and methods of Einstein's general relativity that are not related to the Lorentz metric and the speed of light, in order to understand quantum mechanics in a general relativistic observer independent way, as far as possible.

This approach requires non standard methods based on fibred manifolds, jets, connections and the Lie algebra of special phase functions. On the other hand, in the flat case the theory yields just the standard Schrödinger equation and the quantum operators for all usual examples. This approach has some analogies with other well-known geometric formulations of quantum mechanics, in particular, with geometric quantisation (see, for instance, [1, 31, 73].) But, it presents several methodological novelties and results as well, by overcoming several typical difficulties in the theory of geometric quantisation.

This approach was proposed in [35, 36] and further developed by several authors (see, for instance [40, 38, 65, 66] and references therein). On the other hand, several authors have been involved with a formulation of classical and quantum mechanics in the framework of a curved Galileian background (see, for instance, [13, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 34, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 49, 57, 69, 70, 71]). One of the typical features of covariant classical mechanics is the role played by a cosymplectic 2–form. This is a concept more general than that of contact 2–form and appropriate to account for the covariance of the theory. Actually, the literature on symplectic geometry is much wider and known than that on cosymplectic geometry; however, several authors have analysed the second one (see, for instance, [2, 8, 15, 19, 37, 51] and references therein).

In the present paper, we start by introducing the basic objects of the theory, namely the spacetime fibred over absolute time, the spacelike Riemannian metric, the spacetime gravitational connection and the electromagnetic field.

Then, we introduce the classical phase space and the main geometric objects induced by the spacetime structure, namely the contact maps, the phase connection, the 2nd order phase connection, the phase 2–form and the phase 2–vector. An important role is played by the phase 2–form, which encodes all other objects and turns out to be cosymplectic. This set up allows us to introduce in a natural way the distinguished Lie algebra of special phase functions and their various lifts. The special Lie bracket is linked to the Poisson bracket and allows us to deal with spacetime functions, momentum and energy on the same footing. An essential feature of special phase functions is that they admit a lift to the tangent space of spacetime.

#### Contents

Eventually, we classify systematically the infinitesimal symmetries of the above classical objects and show, step by step, that they are generated by distinguished subalgebras of the Lie algebra of special phase functions.

We observe that the classical Lagrangian formalism, Nöther's theorem and the momentum map [1, 12, 16, 17, 29, 30, 32, 48, 61, 62, 64, 68] arise naturally in the present scheme ruled by a cosymplectic 2-form and by the Lie algebra of special phase functions. The literature dealing with Lie algebras associated with geometric structures of analytical mechanics from different perspectives is very wide (see, for instance, [3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 11, 14, 27, 28, 33, 50, 52, 53, 54, 56, 55, 59]). On the other hand, the present paper is devoted to the specific setting of covariant classical mechanics of a particle effected by the fundamental classical fields.

This paper extends considerably the results obtained in [66, 40].

The above results will play an essential role in the subsequent paper devoted to infinitesimal quantum symmetries, where we achieve analogous results by a similar approach. In particular, we will prove in this forthcoming paper that the Lie algebra of special phase functions yields a Lie algebra of quantum currents; the conserved probability current is just a particular case of this construction.

Thus, throughout the two papers, a crucial role is played by the Lie algebra of special phase functions, which turn out to be the generators of the infinitesimal symmetries both of the classical and quantum theories.

For each manifolds M, N and each fibred manifolds  $F \to B$ ,  $G \to B$ , we denote the sheaf of local maps  $f : M \to N$  by map(M, N), the sheaf of local sections  $s : B \to F$  by sec(B, F) and the sheaf of local fibred morphisms  $f : F \to G$  over B by fib(F, G). The capitalised symbols Map(M, N), Sec(B, F) and Fib(F, G) will denote the corresponding sets of global maps.

#### Acknowledgements.

This research has been supported by the University of Florence (Italy), the PRIN 2003 "Sistemi integrabili, teorie classiche e quantistiche" (MIUR, Italy), the GNFM of INDAM (Italy), the University of Mannheim (Germany) and the Max Planck Institute for Mathematics in the Sciences, Leipzig (Germany).

We thank Ernst Binz, Josef Janyška and Raffaele Vitolo for stimulating discussions.

# 1 Covariant classical mechanics

# **1.1** Spacetime and its structure

#### 1.1.1 Scale spaces

In the covariant formulation of physical theories the independence from the choice of coordinates and of units of measurements appear on the same footing. Thus, a rigorous treatment of units of merasurement is necessary.

We introduce the fundamental scale spaces  $\mathbb{U}$  as "positive 1-dimensional semi-vector spaces" over  $\mathbb{R}^+$ . A detailed account for this notion can be found in [36, 39]. Roughly speaking, they have the same algebraic structure as  $\mathbb{R}^+$ , but no distinguished generator over  $\mathbb{R}^+$ . We can naturally define the tensor product between scale spaces and ordinary vector spaces. Moreover, we can naturally define the rational powers  $\mathbb{U}^{p/q}$  of a scale space  $\mathbb{U}$ . Rules analogous to those of real numbers hold for scale spaces; accordingly, we adopt analogous notation. In particular, we shall write  $\mathbb{U}^0 := \mathbb{U}$ ,  $\mathbb{U}^{-1} := \mathbb{U}^*$ ,  $\mathbb{U}^p := \otimes^p \mathbb{U}$ .

These spaces will appear in the theory tensorialised with spacetime tensors. The scale spaces appearing in tensor products are not effected by differential operators, hence their elements can be treated as constants.

We introduce the space  $\mathbb{T}$  of *future oriented time intervals*, the space  $\mathbb{L}$  of *lengths* and the space  $\mathbb{M}$  of *masses*.

We shall refer to particles of mass  $m \in \mathbb{M}$  and charge  $q \in \mathbb{T}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{L}^{3/2} \otimes \mathbb{M}^{1/2}$ .

Moreover, we will consider time units  $u_0 \in \mathbb{T}$ , or their duals  $u^0 \in \mathbb{T}^*$ .

In order to unscale some objects of the theory, we will need a scale with scale dimensions of the *Planck constant*  $\hbar : \mathbb{T}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{L}^2 \otimes \mathbb{M}$ . Actually, in the classical theory any such scale would do; on the other hand, in the quantum theory, we have to assume just the actual value of this scale.

#### 1.1.2 Spacetime

Our basic framework is spacetime with its fibring over absolute time [36, 39].

We assume *time* to be an affine space T associated with the vector space  $\overline{\mathbb{T}} := \mathbb{T} \otimes \mathbb{R}$ and *spacetime* to be an oriented 4-dimensional manifold E fibred over time by the *absolute time map*  $t : E \to T$ .

We shall refer to spacetime charts  $(x^{\lambda}) = (x^0, x^i)$  adapted to the time fibring, to the affine structure of time, to a time unit of measurement  $u_0 \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$  and to the orientation of spacetime.

We shall be concerned with the *tangent space*  $T\mathbf{E}$  of spacetime and its *vertical tangent* subspace  $j: V\mathbf{E} \subset T\mathbf{E}$ , consisting of the vectors tangent to the fibres, which are called *spacelike*. Moreover, we shall be concerned with the *cotangent space*  $T^*\mathbf{E}$  of spacetime and its *horizontal subspace*  $H^*\mathbf{E} := \mathbf{E} \times \overline{\mathbb{T}}^* \subset T^*\mathbf{E}$ , consisting of forms vanishing on vertical vectors, which are called *timelike*. Furthermore, we shall be concerned with the *horizontal*  space  $HE := E \times \overline{\mathbb{T}}$  and the *cotangent vertical* space  $V^*E$ . The local coordinate bases of TE, VE,  $T^*E$ , HE and  $V^*E$  are denoted by

$$\partial_{\lambda} \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}), \quad \partial_{i} \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, V\boldsymbol{E}), \quad d^{\lambda} \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, T^{*}\boldsymbol{E}), \quad d^{0} \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, H^{*}\boldsymbol{E})$$
$$u_{0} \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, H\boldsymbol{E}), \qquad \check{d}^{i} \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, V^{*}\boldsymbol{E}).$$

We have the distinguished scaled *time form*  $dt : \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T} \otimes T^* \mathbf{E}$ , with coordinate expression  $dt = u_0 \otimes d^0$ . It generates the horizontal subbundle  $H^* \mathbf{E} \subset T^* \mathbf{E}$ . We shall often make the natural identification  $u^0 \simeq d^0$  via pullback.

We have the natural timelike projection and spacelike projection

$$dt: T\mathbf{E} \to H\mathbf{E}: X \mapsto dt(X) \quad \text{and} \quad \jmath^*: T^*\mathbf{E} \to V^*\mathbf{E}: \alpha \mapsto \overset{\vee}{\alpha} := \alpha \circ \jmath_*$$

with coordinate expressions  $dt(X) = X^0 u_0$  and  $\overset{\vee}{\alpha} = \alpha_i \check{d}^i$ .

In general, the check symbol " $^{\vee}$ " will denote the vertical restriction of spacetime forms. We stress that we *do not* have natural inclusions and projections of the following type

 $V^* \boldsymbol{E} \subset T^* \boldsymbol{E}, \qquad H \boldsymbol{E} \subset T \boldsymbol{E} \qquad \text{and} \qquad T \boldsymbol{E} \to V \boldsymbol{E}, \qquad T^* \boldsymbol{E} \to H^* \boldsymbol{E}.$ 

This is an important feature of our relativistic model; indeed, we need the choice of an "observer" in order to achieve such inclusions and projections.

We shall be involved with the Lie subalgebras

$$\operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$$
 and  $\operatorname{fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ 

of spacetime vector fields which are projectable on T and whose time component is constant, respectively. Their coordinate expressions are of the type

$$X = X^{0} \partial_{0} + X^{i} \partial_{i} \in \operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}), \quad \text{with} \quad X^{0} \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \mathbb{R}), X^{i} \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}),$$
$$X = X^{0} \partial_{0} + X^{i} \partial_{i} \in \operatorname{fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}), \quad \text{with} \quad X^{0} \in \mathbb{R}, \quad X^{i} \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}).$$

#### 1.1.3 Observers

Observers are essential tools for performing physical measurements. In the standard literature, the measurements are usually described by coordinates. But what is essentially necessary is the observer underlying a system of coordinates.

Our relativistic model does not exhibit any distinguished observer.

The choice of an observer yields the observed inclusions and projections which are not provided by the time fibring.

An observer is defined to be a (local) section  $o : \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T\mathbf{E}$ , which projects on  $\mathbf{1} \in \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{T}$ , i.e. a (local) section  $o : \mathbf{E} \to J_1 \mathbf{E}$ , where  $J_1 \mathbf{E}$  denotes the 1st jet space of spacetime. Thus, an observer is just a connection of the spacetime fibring.

The coordinate expression of an observer o is of the type  $o = u^0 \otimes (\partial_0 + o_0^i \partial_i)$ , where  $o_0^i \in \max(\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ . The charts  $(x^{\lambda})$  for which  $o_0^i = 0$  are said to be *adapted* to o. Conversely, each chart  $(x^{\lambda})$  is adapted to a unique observer, whose coordinate expression turns out to be  $o := u^0 \otimes \partial_0$ .

Each observer o yields the observed spacelike projection  $\nu[o] : T\mathbf{E} \to V\mathbf{E} : X \mapsto X - o(dt(X))$  and the observed timelike projection  $o^* : T^*\mathbf{E} \to H^*\mathbf{E} : \alpha \circ o \simeq o \lrcorner \alpha$ , whose coordinate expressions are  $\nu[o] = (d^i - o_0^i d^0) \otimes \partial_i$  and  $o^* = d^0 \otimes (\partial_0 + o_0^i \partial_i)$ .

Moreover, an observer o yields the observed spacelike inclusion  $\nu^*[o] : V^* \mathbf{E} \hookrightarrow T^* \mathbf{E} :$  $\alpha \mapsto \alpha \circ \nu[o]$  and the observed timelike inclusion  $o : H\mathbf{E} \hookrightarrow T\mathbf{E} : X \mapsto o(X)$ , whose coordinate expressions are  $\nu^*[o](\alpha) = \alpha_i (d^i - o_0^i d^0)$  and  $o(X) = X^0 (\partial_0 + o_0^i \partial_i)$ .

Thus, an observer *o* yields the *observed splittings* of the tangent and cotangent spaces of spacetime into the direct sum of their timelike and spacelike components

 $T\boldsymbol{E} = H\boldsymbol{E} \oplus V\boldsymbol{E} : X \mapsto dt(X) + \nu[o](X), \quad T^*\boldsymbol{E} = H^*\boldsymbol{E} \oplus V^*\boldsymbol{E} : \alpha \mapsto o^*(\alpha) + j^*(\alpha).$ 

#### 1.1.4 Metric field

The fibres of spacetime are equipped with a given Riemannian metric [36, 39].

We assume spacetime to be equipped with a scaled Riemannian metric of the fibres  $g: \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{L}^2 \otimes (V^* \mathbf{E} \otimes V^* \mathbf{E})$ .

With reference to a particle of mass m, it is useful to define the rescaled spacelike metric  $G := \frac{m}{\hbar} g : \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T} \otimes (V^* \mathbf{E} \otimes V^* \mathbf{E})$ .

We denote the contravariant spacelike metric and the contravariant rescaled spacelike metric by  $\bar{g}: \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{L}^{*2} \otimes (V\mathbf{E} \otimes V\mathbf{E})$  and  $\bar{G} := \frac{\hbar}{m} \bar{g}: \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes (V\mathbf{E} \otimes V\mathbf{E})$ .

The spacelike metric g and the spacetime orientation naturally yield the scaled spacelike volume form  $\eta: \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{L}^3 \otimes \Lambda^3 V^* \mathbf{E}$ , with coordinate expression  $\eta = \sqrt{|g|} \check{d}^1 \wedge \check{d}^2 \wedge \check{d}^3$ .

Moreover, the time form and the spacelike volume form yield the scaled *spacetime* volume form  $v := dt \wedge \eta : \mathbf{E} \to (\mathbb{T} \otimes \mathbb{L}^3) \otimes \Lambda^4 T^* \mathbf{E}$ , with coordinate expression  $v = \sqrt{|g|} u_0 \otimes d^0 \wedge d^1 \wedge d^2 \wedge d^3$ .

For each  $X \in \text{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , the Lie derivative  $L[X] \bar{G} \in \text{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes (V\boldsymbol{E} \otimes V\boldsymbol{E}))$ has the coordinate expression  $L[X] \bar{G} = (X^{\lambda} \partial_{\lambda} G_0^{ij} - G_0^{hj} \partial_h X^i - G_0^{ih} \partial_h X^j) u^0 \otimes \partial_i \otimes \partial_j$ .

For each  $X \in \operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , the Lie derivative  $L[X] G \in \operatorname{sec} \left(\boldsymbol{E}, \ \mathbb{T} \otimes (V^* \boldsymbol{E} \otimes V^* \boldsymbol{E})\right)$ , has the coordinate expression  $L[X] G = (X^\lambda \partial_\lambda G^0_{ij} + G^0_{hj} \partial_i X^h + G^0_{ih} \partial_j X^h) u_0 \otimes \check{d}^i \otimes \check{d}^j$ .

For each  $X \in \text{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , the spacetime divergence  $\text{div}_{v} X \in \text{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is well defined by the equality  $L[X] v = (\text{div}_{v} X) v$ .

For each  $X \in \operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , the spacelike divergence  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  and the timelike divergence  $\operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  are well defined, respectively, by the equalities  $L[X] \eta = (\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X) \eta$  and  $L[X] dt = (\operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X) dt$ .

#### 1.1 Spacetime and its structure

We have the coordinate expressions

$$\operatorname{div}_{\upsilon} X = \frac{\partial_{\lambda}(X^{\lambda}\sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}, \quad \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = X^{0} \frac{\partial_{0}\sqrt{|g|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} + \frac{\partial_{j}(X^{j}\sqrt{|g|})}{\sqrt{|g|}}, \quad \operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X = \partial_{0}X^{0}$$

Hence, for each  $X \in \operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , we obtain  $\operatorname{div}_{v} X = \operatorname{div}_{\operatorname{dt}} X + \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X$  and, for each  $X \in \operatorname{fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , we obtain  $\operatorname{div}_{v} X = \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X$ .

Moreover, for each  $X \in \operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , we obtain  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = \frac{1}{2} \langle \overline{G}, L[X] G \rangle$ .

#### 1.1.5 Gravitational and electromagnetic fields

Spacetime is equipped with given gravitational and electromagnetic fields [36].

We assume spacetime to be equipped with a gravitational field, i.e. with a linear connection  $K^{\natural}: T\mathbf{E} \to T^*\mathbf{E} \otimes TT\mathbf{E}$ , such that  $\nabla^{\natural} dt = 0$  and  $\nabla^{\natural} g = 0$ , and such that its curvature tensor  $R[K^{\natural}]$  fulfills the symmetry condition  $R^{\natural}_{i\lambda j\mu} = R^{\natural}_{j\mu i\lambda}$ .

1.1 Proposition. The coordinate expression of the gravitational field is of the type

$$\begin{split} K^{\natural}{}_{\lambda}{}^{0}{}_{\mu} &= 0 \\ K^{\natural}{}_{0}{}^{i}{}_{0} &= -G^{ij}_{0} \, 2 \, \Phi_{0j} \\ K^{\natural}{}_{0}{}^{i}{}_{h} &= K^{\natural}{}_{h}{}^{i}{}_{0} &= -\frac{1}{2} \, G^{ij}_{0} \left( \partial_{0} G^{0}_{jh} + 2 \, \Phi_{hj} \right) \\ K^{\natural}{}_{k}{}^{i}{}_{h} &= K^{\natural}{}_{h}{}^{i}{}_{k} &= -\frac{1}{2} \, G^{ij}_{0} \left( \partial_{h} G^{0}_{jk} - \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk} + \partial_{k} G^{0}_{jh} \right), \end{split}$$

where  $\Phi^{\natural}[o] = \Phi^{\natural}_{\lambda\mu} d^{\lambda} \wedge d^{\mu} \in \sec(\mathbf{E}, \Lambda^2 T^* \mathbf{E})$  is a closed 2-form, which depends on the chosen chart only through the associated observer  $o \square$ 

We shall denote by  $A^{\natural}[o]$  the local potentials of  $\Phi^{\natural}[o]$ , according to  $2 dA^{\natural}[o] = \Phi^{\natural}[o]$ .

We assume spacetime to be equipped with an *electromagnetic field*, i.e. with a closed scaled 2-form  $F : \mathbf{E} \to (\mathbb{L}^{1/2} \otimes \mathbb{M}^{1/2}) \otimes \Lambda^2 T^* \mathbf{E}$  (see also [49]).

Given a particle with mass  $m \in \mathbb{M}$  and charge  $q \in \mathbb{T}^{-1} \otimes \mathbb{L}^{3/2} \otimes \mathbb{M}^{1/2}$ , it is convenient to consider, respectively, the unscaled field and the rescaled field

$$\frac{q}{\hbar}F: \boldsymbol{E} \to \Lambda^2 T^* \boldsymbol{E}$$
 and  $\frac{q}{m}\widehat{F}: \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T}^{-1} \otimes (V \boldsymbol{E} \otimes T^* \boldsymbol{E}),$ 

where  $\widehat{F} = g^{\sharp 2}(F) = g^{ih} F_{\lambda h} \partial_i \otimes d^{\lambda}$ .

The electromagnetic field F can be "joined", in a covariant way, to the gravitational field yielding the "joined" spacetime connection  $K = K^{\natural} - dt \otimes \frac{q}{2m} \hat{F} - \frac{q}{2m} \hat{F} \otimes dt$ . The joined K still fulfills the properties that we have assumed for  $K^{\natural}$ . Moreover, all

The joined K still fulfills the properties that we have assumed for  $K^{\ddagger}$ . Moreover, all objects derived from the joined connection split into components related to the gravitational and the electromagnetic fields.

In particular, the observed potential A[o] of the joined connection splits into the sum of the gravitational and electromagnetic potentials as  $A[o] = A^{\natural}[o] + \frac{q}{\hbar}A^{\mathfrak{e}}$ , where

 $A^{\mathfrak{e}} \in \operatorname{sec}\left(\boldsymbol{E}, (\mathbb{L}^{1/2} \otimes \mathbb{M}^{1/2}) \otimes T^*\boldsymbol{E}\right)$  is a local (observer independent) potential of F, according to  $2 dA^{\mathfrak{e}} = F$ .

Thus, from now on, with reference to a particle of mass m and charge q, we shall refer to the spacetime structure constituted by the 4-plet  $(\boldsymbol{E}, t, G, K)$ , whose elements fulfill the properties mentioned above.

#### 1.1.6 Basic model of spacetime

The present paper deals with a curved spacetime. However, this model includes flat or partially flat spacetimes, as well [36]. Thus, the standard mechanics can be recovered as a particular case of our theory.

The simplest model of spacetime is given by the following construction.

We consider an oriented affine space E that is associated with the vector space E and equipped with an affine map  $t : E \to T$  of rank 1.

Let us consider the vector subspace  $\mathbf{S} := \ker Dt \subset \mathbf{E}$ . We can easily see that all fibres of the fibring  $t : \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{T}$  are affine subspaces of  $\mathbf{E}$  associated with the same vector space  $\mathbf{S}$ . Hence, the spacetime fibred space turns out to be an abelian principal bundle with structural group  $\mathbf{S}$ .

We assume as spacelike metric a constant Euclidean metric on  $\boldsymbol{S}$ .

Moreover, we assume as gravitational connection the connection induced by the affine structure of spacetime. Eventually, we assume a vanishing electromagnetic field.

Clearly, the above objects fulfill our axioms. We call such a spacetime a *special New*tonian spacetime. In this model we can easily define the standard inertial motions and inertial observers.

We could consider also a little more complex model, which assumes the previous structure for background and adds a gravitational connection which is Ricci flat. This model accounts for the standard notions of classical mechanics, including Newton's law of gravitation.

The rigid body provides a further non trivial example of our model [63].

# 1.2 Phase space and the induced structure

#### 1.2.1 Classical phase space

We assume as phase space of a classical particle the 1st jet space of sections of spacetime [36, 39].

The 1st jet space ([42, 67])  $J_1 \mathbf{E}$  of  $t : \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{T}$  is a fibred manifold  $t^1 : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{T}$  over  $\mathbf{T}$ and an affine bundle  $t_0^1 : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$  over  $\mathbf{E}$ , associated with the vector bundle  $\mathbb{T}^* \otimes V \mathbf{E}$ . Hence, the vertical space of  $J_1 \mathbf{E}$  with respect to  $\mathbf{E}$  turns out to be  $V_0 J_1 \mathbf{E} = \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V \mathbf{E}$ .

We denote the fibred charts of the phase space by  $(x^0, x^i, x_0^i)$ .

The above affine structure yields the natural tensor  $\nu : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T} \otimes (V^* \mathbf{E} \otimes V J_1 \mathbf{E})$ , with  $\nu = u_0 \otimes \check{d}^i \otimes \partial_i^0$ . We recall the natural contact maps  $\boldsymbol{\pi} : J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T\boldsymbol{E}$  and  $\theta : J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to T^* \boldsymbol{E} \otimes V\boldsymbol{E}$ , with  $\boldsymbol{\pi} = u^0 \otimes (\partial_0 + x_0^i \partial_i)$  and  $\theta = \partial_i \otimes (d^i - x_0^i d^0)$ . From now on,  $J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$  is considered as a subspace of  $\mathbb{T}^* \otimes T\boldsymbol{E}$ , according to the natural embedding  $\boldsymbol{\pi}$ .

We shall be involved with the Lie subalgebras

 $\operatorname{proj}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \text{ and } \operatorname{fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$ 

of vector fields of  $J_1 E$ , which are projectable on E and T, and additionally whose time components are constant, respectively.

#### **1.2.2** Holonomic prolongation of spacetime vector fields

We have a natural prolongation of spacetime vector fields to phase vector fields.

**1.2 Proposition.** [39, 58] There is a natural fibred morphism  $r_1 : J_1 T E \to T J_1 E$ over  $J_1 E \underset{T}{\times} J_1 T T$ , with  $(x^0, x^i, x_0^i; \dot{x}^0, \dot{x}^i, \dot{x}_0^i) \circ r_1 = (x^0, x^i, x_0^i; \dot{x}^0, \dot{x}^i, \dot{x}_0^i - x_0^i \dot{x}_0^0)$ .

Then, for each  $X \in \sec(\mathbf{E}, T\mathbf{E})$ , we obtain the vector field, called 1st holonomic prolongation of X,  $X_{(1)} := r_1 \circ J_1 X \in \sec(J_1 \mathbf{E}, TJ_1 \mathbf{E})$ , which projects on X. Its coordinate expression is  $X_{(1)} = X^0 \partial_0 + X^i \partial_i + (\partial_0 X^i + \partial_j X^i x_0^j - \partial_0 X^0 x_0^i - \partial_j X^0 x_0^j x_0^i) \partial_i^0$ .

The map  $r_1 \circ J_1 : \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \to \sec(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) : X \mapsto X_{(1)}$  turns out to be an injective IR-linear morphism of Lie algebras.  $\Box$ 

In the particular case when the vector field X is projectable on T, we recover the standard holonomic prolongation obtained through the 1st jet prolongation of the fibred flow of X. In fact, the above map restricts to the injective IR-linear map

$$\operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) \to \operatorname{proj}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) : X \mapsto X_{(1)},$$

with coordinate expression  $X_{(1)} = X^0 \partial_0 + X^i \partial_i + (\partial_0 X^i + \partial_j X^i x_0^j - \partial_0 X^0 x_0^i) \partial_i^0$ .

Later, we shall use the following technical results.

**1.3 Lemma.** [39] For each  $X \in sec(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , we have the equalities

$$L[X_{(1)}] \theta = \left( \mathfrak{A} \cdot \left( dt(X) \right) \right) \theta$$
 and  $L[X_{(1)}] \mathfrak{A} = -\left( \mathfrak{A} \cdot \left( dt(X) \right) \right) \mathfrak{A}$ ,

with coordinate expressions

$$L[X_{(1)}] \theta = (\partial_0 X^0 + \partial_j X^0 x_0^j) (d^i - x_0^i d^0) \otimes \partial_i^0$$
  
$$L[X_{(1)}] \pi = -(\partial_0 X^0 + x_0^j \partial_j X^0) (\partial_0 + x_0^i \partial_i) . \Box$$

For each  $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ , which projects on  $X \in \operatorname{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T \boldsymbol{E})$ , the spacelike divergence  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is well defined by the equality  $L[X^{\uparrow}] \eta = (\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X^{\uparrow}) \eta$  and we obtain  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X^{\uparrow} = \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X$ .

#### 1.2.3 Distinguished phase fields

The spacetime connection and the rescaled metric yield in a covariant way further objects on the phase space [36, 39].

The spacetime connection K yields a torsion free affine connection of the affine bundle  $J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$ , called *phase connection*,  $\Gamma[K] : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to T^* \mathbf{E} \otimes T J_1 \mathbf{E}$ , with coordinate expression  $\Gamma_{\lambda 0}^{\ i} := \Gamma_{\lambda 0 j}^{\ i 0} x_0^j + \Gamma_{\lambda 0 0}^{\ i 0}$ , where  $\Gamma_{\lambda 0 \mu}^{\ i 0} = K_{\lambda}^{\ i \mu}$ . Conversely,  $\Gamma$  characterises K.

The phase connection  $\Gamma$  splits into the gravitational and electromagnetic components as  $\Gamma = \Gamma^{\natural} + \Gamma^{\mathfrak{e}}$ , where  $\Gamma^{\mathfrak{e}} = -\frac{q}{2m} \left( \widehat{F} + \mathfrak{A} \lrcorner \widehat{F} \right) \in \sec \left( J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \ \mathbb{T}^* \otimes (T^* \boldsymbol{E} \otimes V \boldsymbol{E}) \right)$ .

We have 
$$\Gamma_{00}^{ij} - \Gamma_{00}^{ji} = -G_0^{ih} G_0^{jk} \left( \left( \partial_h G_{kl}^0 - \partial_k G_{hl}^0 \right) x_0^l + \partial_h A_k - \partial_k A_h \right)$$
, with  $\Gamma_{00}^{hk} := G_0^{hl} \Gamma_{l0}^k$ .

Then,  $\Gamma$  yields the 2nd order connection  $\gamma[\Gamma] := \exists \Box \Gamma : J_1 E \to J_2 E \subset \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T J_1 E$ , with  $\gamma = u^0 \otimes (\partial_0 + x_0^i \partial_i + \gamma_{00}^i \partial_i^0)$ , where

$$\begin{aligned} \gamma_{00}^{i} &= K_{h}^{i}{}_{k} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + 2 K_{h}^{i}{}_{0} x_{0}^{h} + K_{0}^{i}{}_{0} = \\ &= -G_{0}^{ij} \left( \left( \partial_{h} G_{jk}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + \left( \partial_{0} G_{hj}^{0} + \partial_{h} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{h} \right) x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Conversely,  $\gamma$  characterises  $\Gamma$ .

The 2nd order connection  $\gamma$  splits into the gravitational and electromagnetic components as  $\gamma^{\natural} + \gamma^{\mathfrak{e}}$ , where  $\gamma^{\mathfrak{e}} = -\frac{q}{m} \not{\pi} \lrcorner \widehat{F} : J_1 E \to (\mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{T}^*) \otimes V E$  equals the Lorentz force.

Then,  $\Gamma$  and G yield the phase 2-form  $\Omega[G, \Gamma] := G \lrcorner (\nu[\Gamma] \land \theta) : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \Lambda^2 J_1 T \mathbf{E}$ , with  $\Omega = G_{ij}^0 (d_0^i - \gamma_{00}^i d^0 - \Gamma_{h0}^i \theta^h) \land \theta^j$ , and where  $\nu[\Gamma]$  is the vertical valued form associated with  $\Gamma$ . Conversely,  $\Omega$  characterises  $\Gamma$  and G [66].

The 2-form  $\Omega$  splits into the gravitational and electromagnetic components as  $\Omega = \Omega^{\natural} + \Omega^{\mathfrak{e}}$ , where  $\Omega^{\mathfrak{e}} = \frac{q}{2\hbar} F$ .

Then,  $\Gamma$  and G yield the 2-vector  $\Lambda[G,\Gamma] := \overline{G} \lrcorner (\check{\Gamma} \land \nu) : J_1 E \to \Lambda^2 V J_1 E$ , with  $\Lambda = G_0^{ij} (\partial_i + \Gamma_{i0}^h \partial_h^0) \land \partial_j^0$ , where  $\check{\Gamma} : J_1 E \to V^* E \otimes V J_1 E$  is the vertical restriction of  $\Gamma$ .

The 2-vector  $\Lambda$  splits into the gravitational and electromagnetic components as  $\Lambda = \Lambda^{\natural} + \Lambda^{\mathfrak{e}}$ , where  $\Lambda^{\mathfrak{e}} = \frac{q}{2\hbar} G^{\sharp}(F) : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \Lambda^2 V J_1 \mathbf{E}$ .

We have the identities  $i(\gamma) dt = 1$ ,  $i(\gamma) \Omega = 0$ ,  $L[\gamma] \Lambda = 0$ ,  $[\Lambda, \Lambda] = 0$ .

Therefore,  $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, dt, \Omega)$  turns out to be a scaled cosymplectic manifold, where  $\gamma$  is the associated scaled Reeb vector field and  $\Lambda$  is the associated 2-vector.

We have the following results which will be used later.

**1.4 Proposition.** [66] For each  $X \in \text{proj}(E, TE)$ , the following implications holds

$$\begin{split} & L[X_{(1)}] \, \Omega = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad L[X_{(1)}] \, \Gamma = 0 \,, \quad L[X] \, G = 0 \,, \\ & L[X_{(1)}] \, \Omega = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad \operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = 0 \,. \, \Box \end{split}$$

# **1.3** Classical mechanics

The spacetime structure and the joined connection allow us to formulate the dynamics of a classical particle under the action of the gravitational and electromagnetic fields [36, 39].

#### **1.3.1** Classical kinematics

A motion is defined to be a section  $s \in sec(\mathbf{T}, \mathbf{E})$  and its absolute velocity is defined to be the 1st jet prolongation  $j_1 s \in sec(\mathbf{T}, J_1 \mathbf{E})$ .

An observer *o* yields the following objects:

- the affine fibred morphism  $\nabla[o] := \operatorname{id} - (o \circ t_0^1) \in \operatorname{fib}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V \boldsymbol{E})$  over  $\boldsymbol{E}$ ,

- the observed kinetic momentum  $\mathcal{Q}[o] := G^{\flat} \circ \nabla[o] : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to V^* \mathbf{E}$  and the observed kinetic energy  $\mathcal{K}[o] := \frac{1}{2} G \sqcup (\nabla[o] \otimes \nabla[o]) : J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{R}$ ,

- for each motion s, the observed velocity  $\nabla[o]s := j_1 s - o \circ s \in \text{sec}(T, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes VE)$ , Their expressions, in adapted coordinates, are

r in i , i i r

$$\nabla[o] = x_0^i u^0 \otimes \partial_i \,, \quad \mathcal{Q}[o] = G_{ij}^0 x_0^j \check{d}^i \,, \quad \mathcal{K}[o] = \frac{1}{2} G_{ij}^0 x_0^i x_0^j u^0 \,, \quad \nabla[o]s = \partial_0 s^i u^0 \otimes \partial_i \,.$$

In the special Newtonian spacetime, we can also define the usual observed angular momentum  $\mathcal{M}[o, c] := r[c] \times \mathcal{Q}[o]$  with respect to an inertial motion c as reference center.

For each motion s, the absolute gravitational *acceleration* is defined to be the section  $\nabla[\gamma^{\natural}]j_1s := j_2s - (\gamma^{\natural} \circ j_1s) \in \sec(\mathbf{T}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V\mathbf{E})$  and the absolute joined *acceleration* is defined to be the section  $\nabla[\gamma]j_1s := j_2s - (\gamma \circ j_1s) \in \sec(\mathbf{T}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V\mathbf{E})$ . Clearly, we have  $\nabla[\gamma]j_1s = \nabla[\gamma^{\natural}]j_1s - \gamma^{\mathfrak{e}} \circ j_1s$ . We have the coordinate expression

$$\nabla[\gamma]j_1s = \left(\partial_{00}s^i - (K_h^{i}{}_k \circ s) \,\partial_0s^h \,\partial_0s^k - 2\left(K_0^{i}{}_h \circ s\right) \,\partial_0s^h - (K_0^{i}{}_0 \circ s)\right) u^0 \otimes u^0 \otimes \partial_i \,.$$

#### **1.3.2** Classical dynamics

We assume the generalised Newton's law as equation of motion for classical dynamics  $\nabla[\gamma]j_1s := j_2s - \gamma \circ j_1s = 0$ .

A function  $f \in \max(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$  such that  $\gamma \cdot f = 0$  is said to be *conserved*. We denote the subsheaf of conserved functions by  $\operatorname{cons}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{map}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

We can also obtain the classical dynamics by a Lagrangian formalism according to a cohomological procedure in the following way.

The phase 2-form  $\Omega$  admits locally horizontal potentials  $A^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* \boldsymbol{E})$ , which are defined up to a closed spacetime form  $\alpha \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, T^* \boldsymbol{E})$ . Each horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$  splits, in a covariant way, as  $A^{\uparrow} = \mathcal{L}[A^{\uparrow}] + \mathcal{P}[A^{\uparrow}]$ , through the horizontal component  $\mathcal{L}[A^{\uparrow}] := \boldsymbol{\mu} \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow}$ , called Lagrangian, and the  $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ -vertical component  $\mathcal{P}[A^{\uparrow}] := \boldsymbol{\theta} \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow}$ , called momentum. Moreover, we obtain  $D\mathcal{L}[A^{\uparrow}] = \check{\mathcal{P}}[A^{\uparrow}]$ . Hence, each horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$ turns out to be just the Poincaré–Cartan form  $\Theta$  of the associated Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}[A^{\uparrow}]$ . Moreover, the horizontal component of  $\Omega$  turns out to be the fibred morphism  $\mathcal{E} = G^{\flat}(\nabla[\gamma]) : J_2 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V^* \mathbf{E}$ . Indeed,  $\mathcal{E}$  turns out to be just the Euler-Lagrange operator associated with the Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L}(A^{\uparrow})$ , for each horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$ .

Next, let us choose a horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$  and an observer o.

Then, we define the observed potential to be the spacetime 1-form  $A[o] := o^* A^{\uparrow} \in$ sec $(\boldsymbol{E}, T^*\boldsymbol{E})$ . This form turns out to be just an observed potential of the joined connection K. Moreover, we define the observed Hamiltonian to be the function  $\mathcal{H}[o] := -o \,\lrcorner A^{\uparrow}$  and the observed momentum to be the form  $\mathcal{P}[o] := \nu[o] \,\lrcorner A^{\uparrow}$ .

We have the following expressions, in adapted coordinates,

$$A^{\uparrow} = -\frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0} d^{0} + G^{0}_{ij} x^{j}_{0} d^{i} + A_{\lambda} d^{\lambda},$$
  

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{0} d^{0} = \left(\frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0} + A_{i} x^{i}_{0} + A_{0}\right) d^{0}, \qquad \mathcal{P} = \left(G^{0}_{ij} x^{j}_{0} + A_{i}\right) \left(d^{i} - x^{i}_{0} d^{0}\right)$$
  

$$A[o] = A_{\lambda} d^{\lambda}, \qquad \mathcal{H}[o] = \mathcal{H}_{0} d^{0} = \left(\frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{ij} x^{i}_{0} x^{j}_{0} - A_{0}\right) d^{0}, \qquad \mathcal{P}[o] = \left(G^{0}_{ij} x^{j}_{0} + A_{i}\right) d^{i}.$$

# 1.4 Hamiltonian methods

We devote this section to the basic recalls concerning the splitting of the tangent space of the phase space, the Hamiltonian lift of phase functions and the Poisson bracket of phase functions [36, 39].

#### 1.4.1 Hamiltonian splitting

The time fibring and the 2nd order connection yield in a covariant way a splitting of the tangent and cotangent spaces of the phase space.

We have the natural dual splittings over  $J_1 E$ 

$$TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E} = H_{\gamma} J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \oplus V J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$$
 and  $T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E} = H^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \oplus V_{\gamma}^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$ ,

given by  $X^{\uparrow} = dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma + (X^{\uparrow} - dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma)$  and  $\phi^{\uparrow} = \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt + (\phi^{\uparrow} - \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt)$ , where -  $VJ_1 \mathbf{E} \subset TJ_1 \mathbf{E}$  is the vertical subbundle with respect to dt,

-  $H^*J_1 \mathbf{E} \subset T^*J_1 \mathbf{E}$  is the horizontal subbundle generated by dt,

-  $H_{\gamma}J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \subset TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E}$  is the horizontal subbundle generated by  $\gamma$ ,

-  $V^*_{\gamma}J_1 E \subset T^* J_1 E$  is the vertical subbundle of forms which annihilate  $\gamma$ .

We define the *musical morphisms* to be the linear maps

$$\Omega^{\flat} : \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}) \to \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, V_{\gamma}^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E}) : X^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(X^{\uparrow}) \,\Omega \,,$$
  
$$\Lambda^{\sharp} : \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E}) \to \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \, V J_1 \boldsymbol{E}) : \phi^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(\phi^{\uparrow}) \,\Lambda \,.$$

The musical morphisms restrict to the mutually inverse linear maps

$$\Omega_{0}^{\flat}: \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, VJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, V_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E})$$
$$\Lambda_{0}^{\sharp}: \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, V_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, VJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E})$$

# 1.4 HAMILTONIAN METHODS

For each  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  and  $\phi^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ , we obtain the equalities

$$\begin{split} (\Lambda^{\sharp} \circ \Omega^{\flat})(X^{\uparrow}) &= X^{\uparrow} - dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma \,, \qquad \Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}) = (\Lambda^{\sharp}_{0})^{-1} \Big( X^{\uparrow} - dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma \Big) \,, \\ (\Omega^{\flat} \circ \Lambda^{\sharp})(\phi^{\uparrow}) &= \phi^{\uparrow} - \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) \, dt \,, \qquad \Lambda^{\sharp}(\phi^{\uparrow}) \ = (\Omega^{\flat}_{0})^{-1} \Big( \phi^{\uparrow} - \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) \, dt \Big) \,. \end{split}$$

Hence, we can write  $X^{\uparrow} = dt(X^{\uparrow}) \gamma + (\Lambda^{\sharp} \circ \Omega^{\flat}) (X^{\uparrow})$  and  $\phi^{\uparrow} = \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) dt + (\Omega^{\flat} \circ \Lambda^{\sharp}) (\phi^{\uparrow})$ .

Given a time scale  $\tau \in \max(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{T})$ , we define the  $\tau$ -horizontal subbundle  $H_{\tau}J_1\mathbf{E} \subset TJ_1\mathbf{E}$  consisting of vectors whose time components are given by  $\tau$ . Then, we obtain the mutually inverse affine maps

$$\Omega^{\flat}_{\tau} : \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, H_{\tau}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, V_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : X^{\uparrow} \mapsto i(X^{\uparrow}) \Omega,$$
  
$$\Lambda^{\sharp}_{\tau} : \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, V_{\gamma}^{*}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \to \sec(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, H_{\tau}J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) : \phi^{\uparrow} \mapsto \gamma(\tau) + i(\phi^{\uparrow}) \Lambda.$$

For each  $X^{\uparrow}, \bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  and  $\phi^{\uparrow}, \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ , we have the following equivalences:

$$\begin{aligned} X^{\uparrow} &= \bar{X}^{\uparrow} & \Leftrightarrow & dt(X^{\uparrow}) = dt(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \,, \quad \Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}) = \Omega^{\flat}(\bar{X}^{\uparrow}) \\ \phi^{\uparrow} &= \bar{\phi}^{\uparrow} & \Leftrightarrow & \phi^{\uparrow}(\gamma) \;= \phi^{\uparrow}(\bar{\gamma}) \,, \quad \Lambda^{\sharp}(\phi^{\uparrow}) \;= \Lambda^{\sharp}(\bar{\phi}^{\uparrow}) \,. \end{aligned}$$

#### 1.4.2 Poisson bracket

We introduce the Poisson bracket in our cosymplectic framework by an approach which is rather analogous to that of symplectic manifolds [36, 39].

We define the *Poisson bracket* on map $(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$  by  $\{f, g\} := i(df \wedge dg) \Lambda$ , which has the coordinate expression  $\{f, g\} = G_0^{ij} (\partial_i f \partial_j^0 g - \partial_i g \partial_j^0 f) - (\Gamma_{00}^{ij} - \Gamma_{00}^{ji}) \partial_i^0 f \partial_i^0 g$ .

For each  $f, g \in \max(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , we have [39]  $\gamma \cdot \{f, g\} = \{\gamma \cdot f, g\} + \{f, \gamma \cdot g\}$ . Hence, the subsheaf  $\cos(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset (J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is closed with respect to the Poisson bracket.

#### **1.4.3** Hamiltonian lift of phase functions

In our cosymplectic framework we can introduce the vertical Hamiltonian lift, which partially resembles the usual Hamiltonian lift of symplectic manifolds. Moreover, we can introduce a further affine Hamiltonian lift which depends on an arbitrary choice of a time scale. Furthermore, we obtain a distinguished affine Hamiltonian lift through the distinguished time scale exhibited by each phase function [36, 39].

For each  $f \in \max(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , we define its *vertical Hamiltonian lift* to be the vertical vector field  $\Lambda^{\sharp}(df) = (\Omega^{\flat}_0)^{-1}(df - \gamma f) \in \operatorname{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, V J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ , with coordinate expression  $\Lambda^{\sharp}(df) = -G_0^{ij} \partial_j^0 f \partial_i + (G_0^{ij} \partial_j f + (\Gamma_{00}^{ij} - \Gamma_{00}^{ji}) \partial_j^0 f) \partial_i^0$ .

For each  $f, g \in \operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , we have  $[\Lambda^{\sharp}(df), \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)] = \Lambda^{\sharp}(d\{f, g\})$ . Hence, the map  $\operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto \Lambda^{\sharp}(df)$  turns out to be a morphism of Lie algebras.

For each  $f \in \max(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , we define its Hamiltonian lift, with respect to the time scale  $\tau \in \max(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ , to be the vector field  $X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[\tau, f] := \gamma(\tau) + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \in \operatorname{sec}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, TJ_1 \mathbf{E})$ , with coordinate expression

$$H^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[\tau, f] = \tau^{0} \partial_{0} + (\tau^{0} x_{0}^{i} - G_{0}^{ij} \partial_{j}^{0} f) \partial_{i} + (\tau^{0} \gamma_{00}^{i} + G_{0}^{ij} \partial_{j} f + (\Gamma_{00}^{ij} - \Gamma_{00}^{ji}) \partial_{j}^{0} f) \partial_{i}^{0}.$$

We stress that we need the choice of the time scale  $\tau$  because  $\gamma$  is a scaled vector field. This fact is not a minor point of our theory; instead, it plays an essential role throughout the classical and quantum theories.

Actually, each  $f \in \operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  yields the time scale  $f'' := \frac{1}{3} \langle \bar{G}, D^2 f \rangle$ , where  $D^2 f \in \operatorname{fib} \left( J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}^2 \otimes (V^* \boldsymbol{E} \otimes V^* \boldsymbol{E}) \right)$  is the 2nd fibre derivative of f with respect to the affine fibre of the bundle  $J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to \boldsymbol{E}$ . Thus, we have the coordinate expression  $f'' = f^0 u_0 = \frac{1}{3} G_0^{ij} \partial_i^0 \partial_j^0 f u_0$ . The map f'' is called the *time component* of f.

We define the Hamiltonian lift of each  $f \in map(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  to be the vector field

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[f] := X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[f'', f] = \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) \in \mathrm{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E}).$$

# **1.5** Special phase functions

In this section we collect some basic facts on special phase functions, their Lie bracket and their tangent, Hamiltonian and holonomic lifts [36, 39].

#### **1.5.1** The sheaf of special phase functions

A special phase function is defined to be a function  $f \in \operatorname{map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , such that  $D^2 f = \tau \otimes G$ , with  $\tau \in \operatorname{map}(E, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ . Clearly, if  $f \in \operatorname{map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  is a special phase function, then we obtain  $\tau = f''$ , hence  $D^2 f = f'' \otimes G$ , with  $f'' \in \operatorname{map}(E, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ .

The coordinate expression of a special phase function is of the type

$$f = f^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 + f^i G^0_{ij} x^j_0 + \breve{f}, \quad \text{with} \quad f^0, f^i, \breve{f} \in \text{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}).$$

Given an observer o, a special phase function f can be written as

$$f = f'' \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{K}[o] + f'[o] \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{Q}[o] + f[o] \,,$$

where, in adapted coordinates,

$$f'' = \frac{1}{3} \langle \bar{G}, D^2 f \rangle = f^0 u_0 \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \bar{\mathbb{T}}),$$
  

$$f'[o] = G^{\sharp}(Df) \circ o = f^i \partial_j \in \operatorname{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes V\boldsymbol{E})$$
  

$$f[o] = f \circ o = \breve{f} \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}).$$

Given a horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$  and an observer o, a special phase function f can be written as  $f = f'' \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{H}[A^{\uparrow}, o] + f'[o] \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{P}[A^{\uparrow}, o] + (f[o] + f^0 \,A_0 - f^i \,A_i)$ .

The subsheaf of special phase functions is denoted by  $\operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

#### 1.5 Special phase functions

Moreover, we shall be involved with the distinguished subsheaves related to the affine structure of the bundle  $J_1 E \to E$ . Thus, we define the following subsheaves:

- the sheaf  $\operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  consisting of functions, called *projectable*, whose time component  $f'' \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$  depends only on  $\boldsymbol{T}$ ;

- the sheaf fine  $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  consisting of projectable functions, called *fine*, whose time component  $f'' \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$  is constant;

- the sheaf  $\operatorname{aff}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{fine}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$  consisting of projectable functions, called *affine*, whose time component f'' = 0 vanishes, i.e. the subsheaf of affine functions with respect to the affine fibres of the bundle  $J_1 \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{E}$ ;

- the sheaf map( $\boldsymbol{E}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ )  $\subset$  aff( $J_1\boldsymbol{E}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) consisting of affine functions such that Df = 0, i.e. the subsheaf of affine functions which depend only on  $\boldsymbol{E}$ .

# 1.5.2 Lifts of special phase functions

Let us analyse three distinguished lifts of special phase functions into vector fields: the Hamiltonian lift, the tangent lift and the holonomic lift.

Let us start with the Hamiltonian lift. The special phase functions are characterised by the following property.

**1.5 Theorem.** Let  $\tau \in \max(J_1 E, \mathbb{T})$  and  $f \in \max(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ . Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1)  $X_{\text{ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau, f] \in \text{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  is projectable on a vector field  $X[\tau, f] \in \text{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T \boldsymbol{E})$ , 2)  $f \in \text{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, R)$  and  $\tau = f''$ .

If either of the above conditions is fulfilled, then we obtain

$$X_{\mathrm{ham}}^{\uparrow}[\tau,f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[f] := \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) . \Box$$

The Hamiltonian lift of special phase functions turns out to be the map( $\boldsymbol{T}$ ,  $\mathbb{R}$ )-linear map  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}$  : spec $(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \text{sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f'', f]$ , with coordinate expression  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f] = f^0 \partial_0 - f^i \partial_i + X_0^i \partial_i^0$ , where

$$\begin{aligned} X_{0}^{i} &= G_{0}^{ij} \Big( \frac{1}{2} \,\,\partial_{j} f^{0} \,\,G_{hk}^{0} \,\,x_{0}^{h} \,\,x_{0}^{k} + (\partial_{j} f_{h}^{0} + f^{k} \,\,(\partial_{k} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{kh}^{0}) - f^{0} \,\,\partial_{0} G_{jh}^{0}) \,\,x_{0}^{h} \\ &+ \partial_{j} \breve{f} + f^{h} \,\,(\partial_{h} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{h}) - f^{0} \,\,(\partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0}) \Big) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, the kernel of  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}$  is the subsheaf  $\operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

Then, let us analyse the tangent lift. We obtain the *tangent lift* of special phase functions defined as the map  $X : \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X[f] := X[f'', f]$ , with coordinate expression  $X[f] = f^0 \partial_0 - f^i \partial_i$ . As a consequence, X is surjective and its kernel is the subsheaf map $(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ . We obtain also the map  $\operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) / \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) : [f] \mapsto X[f]$ , whose inverse has coordinate expression  $X^0 \partial_0 + X^i \partial_i \mapsto [X^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 - G^0_{ij} X^j x^i_0]$ .

Eventually, let us introduce the holonomic lift [65].

#### 1 COVARIANT CLASSICAL MECHANICS

We define the *holonomic lift* of special phase functions to be the IR-linear map  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}$ :  $\operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \operatorname{IR}) \to \operatorname{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] := (X[f])_{(1)}$ , with coordinate expression  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = f^0 \partial_0 - f^i \partial_i - (\partial_0 f^i + \partial_j f^i x_0^j + \partial_0 f^0 x_0^i) \partial_i^0$ . The kernel of  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}$  is the subsheaf map $(\boldsymbol{E}, \operatorname{IR}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \operatorname{IR})$ .

#### 1.5.3 Special Lie bracket

The special phase functions are not closed under the Poisson bracket. Also for this reason, one introduces a non standard Lie bracket [36, 39].

We define the *special bracket* on spec $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  by  $[\![f, g]\!] := \{f, g\} + \gamma(f'') \cdot g - \gamma(g'') \cdot f$ , with coordinate expression

$$\begin{bmatrix} f, g \end{bmatrix}^{\lambda} = f^{0} \partial_{0} g^{\lambda} - g^{0} \partial_{0} f^{\lambda} - f^{h} \partial_{h} g^{\lambda} + g^{h} \partial_{h} f^{\lambda}$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} f, g \end{bmatrix} = f^{0} \partial_{0} \breve{g} - g^{0} \partial_{0} \breve{f} - f^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{g} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + f^{h} g^{k} \Phi_{hk} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{0} f^{h}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f}) \Phi_{0h} + g^{h} \partial_{h} \breve{f} - (f^{0} g^{h} - g^{h} \partial_{$$

The sheaf spec $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Lie algebra with respect to the special bracket. The subsheaves

$$\operatorname{aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$$

are subsheaves of  $\mathbb{R}$ -Lie subalgebras with respect to the special bracket. Moreover, the subsheaf map $(\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{aff}(J_1\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is a subsheaf of ideals.

At a first insight, the special bracket resambles the Jacobi bracket [51]. However, these brackets have essential differences.

In fact, in our context, the Jacobi bracket would be  $[f,g] := \{f,g\} + f\gamma g - g\gamma f$ and not  $[\![f,g]\!] := \{f,g\} + \gamma(f'') g - \gamma(g'') f$ . Indeed, the special phase functions are not closed with respect to the Jacobi bracket; moreover, in our context, the Jacobi bracket is not well defined with respect to scale dimensions, as it is not invariant with respect to time scales. Except for this trouble, the Jacobi bracket could be defined for all phase functions, while the special bracket can be defined only for special phase functions, as it involves their "time components". We stress that the Jacobi bracket depends on the first jets of the functions, while the special bracket depends on the second jet, because the time component of the special phase functions depends on the second jet.

Furthermore, we observe that in our context we have  $[\Lambda, \Lambda] = 0$  and not  $[\Lambda, \Lambda] = 2\gamma \wedge \Lambda$ , but, still, the special bracket fulfills the Jacobi property of Lie brackets. These facts do not conflict with the Lichnerowicz theorem concerning the classification of Lie algebras of functions (see, for instance, [51], p. 336), because the special phase functions are not closed with respect to the real multiplication.

#### 1.5.4 Morphisms of Lie algebras

Let us analyse the relation between the special bracket of special phase functions and the Lie bracket of their prolongations.

#### 1.5 Special phase functions

The map  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}$ : spec $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \text{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  is *not* a morphism of Lie algebras, with respect to the special bracket and the Lie bracket, respectively. On the other hand, we have the following result.

# **1.6 Proposition.** [39] For each $f, g \in \text{proj}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[\llbracket f, \, g \, \rrbracket] = [X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[f], \, X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[g]] \,.$$

Thus, the sheaf of Hamiltonian lifts of projectable special phase functions is closed with respect to the Lie bracket and the map  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}$  :  $\text{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \text{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ is a morphism of Lie algebras.  $\Box$ 

**1.7 Proposition.** [36] For each  $f, g \in \operatorname{spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$X\Big[\llbracket f, g \rrbracket\Big] = \Big[X[f], X[g]\Big].$$

Thus, the map  $X : \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$  is a morphism of Lie algebras.  $\Box$ 

**1.8 Proposition.** For each  $f, g \in \operatorname{spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}\left[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket\right] = \left[X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f], X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[g]\right].$$

Hence, the map spec $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \to \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E}) : f \mapsto X^{\uparrow}_{hol}[f]$  is a morphism of Lie algebras. Its kernel equals map $(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

PROOF. If  $f, g \in \text{spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , then, in virtue of Proposition 1.7 and Proposition 1.2, we obtain

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}\left[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket\right] &:= \left(X\left[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket\right]\right)_{(1)} = \left[X[f],X[g]\right]_{(1)} = \\ &= \left[(X[f])_{(1)},\,(X[g])_{(1)}\right] := \left[X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}\left[f\right],\,X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}\left[g\right]\right]. \text{QED} \end{split}$$

# 2 Classical symmetries

This section deals with the main aim of the paper. It is devoted to the analysis of the distinguished subalgebras of the algebra of special phase functions and to the classification of classical infinitesimal symmetries.

# 2.1 Subalgebras of special phase functions

We have distinguished subsheaves of the sheaf of special phase functions, which are closed with respect to the special bracket. These subalgebras will play an important role with respect to the infinitesimal symmetries of the classical structure.

### 2.1.1 Subalgebra of conserved special phase functions

We define the following sheaves

 $\operatorname{cons}\operatorname{spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  $\operatorname{cons}\operatorname{proj}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{proj}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  $\operatorname{cons}\operatorname{fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  $\operatorname{cons}\operatorname{aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{aff}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  $\operatorname{cons}\operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}).$ 

We stress that the special bracket reduces to the Poisson bracket on the sheaf  $cons(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , hence also on the above subsheaves.

**2.1 Proposition.** The sheaf cons spec $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is closed with respect to the special bracket.

 $\text{PROOF. If } f,g \in \operatorname{cons}\operatorname{spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,\mathrm{I\!R})\,,\, \text{then } \gamma.\,[\![\,f,g\,]\!] = \gamma.\{f,g\} = \{\gamma.f,g\} + \{f,\gamma.g\} = 0\,.\, \text{QED}$ 

**2.2 Lemma.** For each spec $(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , we have the coordinate expression

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{0}.f &\equiv \gamma(u_{0}).f = \frac{1}{6} \left( \partial_{i}f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} + \partial_{k}f^{0} G_{ih}^{0} + \partial_{h}f^{0} G_{ki}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{i} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_{0}f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} - f^{0} \partial_{0}G_{hk}^{0} + f^{i} \partial_{i}G_{hk}^{0} + \partial_{h}f^{i} G_{ik}^{0} + \partial_{k}f^{i} G_{ih}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} \\ &- \left( f^{0} \left( \partial_{0}A_{h} - \partial_{h}A_{0} \right) + f^{i} \left( \partial_{h}A_{i} - \partial_{i}A_{h} \right) - \partial_{0}f^{i} G_{ih}^{0} - \partial_{h}\check{f} \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} \\ &+ \partial_{0}\check{f} - f^{i} \left( \partial_{0}A_{i} - \partial_{i}A_{0} \right). \end{split}$$

PROOF. By taking into account the coordinate expressions

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{00}^{i} &= -G_{0}^{ij} \left( \left( \partial_{h} G_{jk}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} \, \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + \left( \partial_{0} G_{hj}^{0} + \left( \partial_{h} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{h} \right) \right) x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) \\ f &= f^{0} \, \frac{1}{2} \, G_{0k}^{0} \, x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} + f^{h} \, G_{0k}^{0} \, x_{0}^{h} + \breve{f} \, , \end{split}$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \gamma_0.f &= \partial_0 f^0 \, \frac{1}{2} \, G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + f^0 \, \frac{1}{2} \partial_0 G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + \partial_0 f^h \, G^0_{hk} \, x^k_0 + f^h \, \partial_0 G^0_{hk} \, x^k_0 + \partial_0 \check{f} \\ &+ \left(\partial_i f^0 \, \frac{1}{2} \, G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + f^0 \, \frac{1}{2} \partial_i G^0_{hk} \, x^h_0 \, x^h_0 + \partial_i f^h \, G^0_{hk} \, x^k_0 + f^h \, \partial_i G^0_{hk} \, x^k_0 + \partial_i \check{f} \right) x^i_0 \\ &- \, G^{ij}_0 \left( f^0 \, G^0_{ir} \, x^r_0 + f^r \, G^0_{ir} \right) \left( \partial_h G^0_{jk} - \frac{1}{2} \, \partial_j G^0_{hk} \right) x^h_0 \, x^h_0 \\ &- \, G^{ij}_0 \left( f^0 \, G^0_{ir} \, x^r_0 + f^r \, G^0_{ir} \right) \left( \left( \partial_0 G^0_{hj} + \left( \partial_h A_j - \partial_j A_h \right) \right) x^h_0 + \partial_0 A_j - \partial_j A_0 \right). \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{0}.f &= \partial_{0}f^{0} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + f^{0} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{0} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0}f^{h} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{k} + f^{h} \partial_{0} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{k} + \partial_{0} \breve{f} \\ &+ (\partial_{i}f^{0} \frac{1}{2} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} + f^{0} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{i} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{i} f^{h} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{k} + f^{h} \partial_{i} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{k} + \partial_{i} \breve{f}) x_{0}^{i} \\ &- (f^{0} x_{0}^{j} + f^{j}) (\partial_{h} G^{0}_{jk} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk}) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &- (f^{0} x_{0}^{j} + f^{j}) \left( \left( \partial_{0} G^{0}_{hj} + (\partial_{h} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{h}) \right) x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) \end{split}$$

and thus

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{0} \cdot f &= \frac{1}{2} \partial_{i} f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{i} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &+ \left( \frac{1}{2} \partial_{0} f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} - \frac{1}{2} f^{0} \partial_{0} G_{hk}^{0} + \frac{1}{2} f^{i} \partial_{i} G_{hk}^{0} + \partial_{h} f^{i} G_{ik}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k} \\ &- \left( f^{0} \left( \partial_{0} A_{h} - \partial_{h} A_{0} \right) + f^{i} \left( \partial_{h} A_{i} - \partial_{i} A_{h} \right) - \partial_{0} f^{i} G_{ih}^{0} - \partial_{h} \check{f} \right) x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} \\ &+ \partial_{0} \check{f} - f^{i} \left( \partial_{0} A_{i} - \partial_{i} A_{0} \right) \cdot \text{QED} \end{split}$$

**2.3 Proposition.** The sheaf cons spec $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is constituted by the special phase functions f such that

$$\partial_i f^0 G^0_{hk} + \partial_k f^0 G^0_{ih} + \partial_h f^0 G^0_{ki} = 0$$
  
$$\partial_0 f^0 G^0_{hk} - f^0 \partial_0 G^0_{hk} + f^i \partial_i G^0_{hk} + \partial_h f^i G^0_{ik} + \partial_k f^i G^0_{ih} = 0$$
  
$$f^0 (\partial_0 A_h - \partial_h A_0) + f^i (\partial_h A_i - \partial_i A_h) - \partial_0 f^i G^0_{ih} - \partial_h \breve{f} = 0$$
  
$$\partial_0 \breve{f} - f^i (\partial_0 A_i - \partial_i A_0) = 0. \square$$

A general analysis of the above system is beyond the scope of the present paper. Here, we just discuss some equivalences and simple examples in the basic model of spacetime. A similar remark holds for the systems of differential equations, which will appear in the forthcoming sections.

**2.4 Proposition.** We have the useful identities  $\gamma_0.\mathcal{H}_0 = -\partial_0\mathcal{L}_0$  and  $\gamma_0.\mathcal{P}_i = \partial_i\mathcal{L}_0$ . Moreover, we have the following equivalences:

$$\begin{split} \gamma.x_0^i &= 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad K_\lambda{}^r{}_\mu = 0 \\ \gamma.\mathcal{K}_0 &= 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \partial_0 G_{hk}^0 = 0 , \quad \partial_0 A_h - \partial_h A_0 = 0 \\ \gamma.\mathcal{H}_0 &= 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \partial_0 G_{hk}^0 = 0 , \quad \partial_0 A_\lambda = 0 \\ \gamma.\mathcal{Q}_i &= 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \partial_i G_{hk}^0 = 0 , \quad \partial_i A_\lambda - \partial_\lambda A_i = 0 \\ \gamma.\mathcal{P}_i &= 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \partial_i G_{hk}^0 = 0 , \quad \partial_i A_\lambda = 0 \end{split}$$

$$\gamma \mathcal{L}_0 = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \nabla_h A_k + \nabla_k A_h = \partial_0 G^0_{hk}, \quad \nabla_h A_0 = 0, \quad A^i_0 \left( \partial_0 A_i - \partial_i A_0 \right) = \partial_0 A_0 . \square$$

**2.5 Example.** In the special Newtonian spacetime, the sheaf cons spec $(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  is constituted by the special phase functions f such that

$$\begin{split} \partial_i f^0 &= 0\\ \partial_0 f^0 &= -2 \,\partial_1 f^1 = -2 \,\partial_2 f^2 = -2 \,\partial_3 f^3\\ \partial_1 f^2 &= -\partial_2 f^1 \,, \qquad \partial_1 f^3 = -\partial_3 f^1 \,, \qquad \partial_2 f^3 = -\partial_3 f^2\\ \partial_0 f^i &= -\partial_i \breve{f}\\ \partial_0 \breve{f} &= 0 \,. \end{split}$$

A solution of this system is given by

$$f^{0} = -a_{0} (x^{0})^{2} + d^{0}, \quad f^{i} = (a_{0} x^{i} + b_{0}^{i}) x^{0}, \quad \breve{f} = -(\frac{1}{2} a_{0} \sum_{i} (x^{i})^{2} + \sum_{i} b_{0}^{i} x^{i} + c),$$

where  $a_0, b_0^i, c, d^0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . In particular, we obtain  $\operatorname{cons} \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

For instance, the components of the kinetic energy, of the momentum and of the angular momentum with respect to an inertial observer are conserved special phase functions.  $\Box$ 

#### 2.1.2 Subalgebra of holonomic functions

We can compare the holonomic and Hamiltonian lifts of a special phase function. The special phase functions whose holonomic and Hamiltonian lifts coincide constitute a subalgebra with respect to the special bracket.

We call  $f \in \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$  holonomic if  $X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{ham}}[f]$ . We denote the subsheaf of holonomic functions by  $\operatorname{hol}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ . Accordingly, we set

hol fine
$$(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \text{hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \text{fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$$
  
hol aff $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \text{hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \text{aff}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$   
hol map $(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \text{hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \text{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

**2.6 Proposition.** The sheaf hol  $(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  is constituted by the special phase functions f such that

$$\partial_i f^0 = 0$$
  
$$\partial_0 f^0 G^0_{ij} - f^0 \partial_0 G^0_{ij} + f^h \partial_h G^0_{ij} + \partial_j f^h G^0_{ih} + \partial_i f^h G^0_{jh} = 0$$
  
$$f^0 (\partial_i A_0 - \partial_0 A_i) + \partial_0 f^h G^0_{ih} + f^h (\partial_h A_i - \partial_i A_h) + \partial_i \breve{f} = 0.$$

As a consequence, we obtain hol  $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

#### 2.1 SUBALGEBRAS OF SPECIAL PHASE FUNCTIONS

**PROOF.** By the coordinate expressions of the holonomic and Hamiltonian lifts of projectable special phase functions

$$\begin{split} X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] &= f^{0} \,\partial_{0} - f^{i} \,\partial_{i} - (\partial_{0}f^{i} + \partial_{j}f^{i} \,x_{0}^{j} + \partial_{0}f^{0} \,x_{0}^{i} + \partial_{j}f^{0} \,x_{0}^{j} \,x_{0}^{i}) \,\partial_{i}^{0} \\ X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f] &= f^{0} \,\partial_{0} - f^{i} \,\partial_{i} + G_{0}^{ij} \left(\partial_{j}\breve{f} + \partial_{j}f^{0} \,\frac{1}{2} \,G_{hk}^{0} \,x_{0}^{h} \,x_{0}^{k} + \partial_{j}f^{h} \,G_{hk}^{0} \,x_{0}^{k} \right. \\ &\left. - f^{0} \left(\partial_{0}G_{hj}^{0} \,x_{0}^{h} + (\partial_{0}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{0})\right) + f^{h} \left(\partial_{h}G_{jk}^{0} \,x_{0}^{h} - (\partial_{j}A_{h} - \partial_{h}A_{j})\right) \partial_{i}^{0} \,, \end{split}$$

we obtain the following coordinate expression of the condition  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f]$ 

$$- (\partial_0 f^i + \partial_j f^i x_0^j + \partial_0 f^0 x_0^i + \partial_j f^0 x_0^j x_0^j)$$

$$= G_0^{ij} \left( \partial_j \breve{f} + \partial_j f^0 \frac{1}{2} G_{hk}^0 x_0^h x_0^h + \partial_j f^h G_{hk}^0 x_0^h \right)$$

$$- f^0 \left( \partial_0 G_{hj}^0 x_0^h + (\partial_0 A_j - \partial_j A_0) \right) + f^h \left( \partial_h G_{jk}^0 x_0^h - (\partial_j A_h - \partial_h A_j) \right).$$

This is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{aligned} -\partial_h f^0 \,\delta^i_k &= \partial_j f^0 \,\frac{1}{2} \,G^{ij}_0 \,G^0_{hk} \\ -(\partial_h f^i + \partial_0 f^0 \,\delta^i_h) &= G^{ij}_0 \left(\partial_j f^k \,G^0_{hk} - f^0 \,\partial_0 G^0_{hj} + f^h \,\partial_h G^0_{jk}\right) \\ -\partial_0 f^i &= G^{ij}_0 \left(\partial_j \breve{f} - f^0 \left(\partial_0 A_j - \partial_j A_0\right) + f^h \left(\partial_h A_j - \partial_j A_h\right)\right) \end{aligned}$$

By contracting the 1st equality with  $G_0^{hk} G_{ir}^0$  and the 2nd and 3rd equalities with  $G_{ir}^0$ , we get

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_r f^0 &= 0 \\ -(\partial_h f^i \, G^0_{ir} + \partial_0 f^0 \, G^0_{hr}) &= \partial_r f^k \, G^0_{hk} - f^0 \, \partial_0 G^0_{hr} + f^k \, \partial_h G^0_{rk} \\ -\partial_0 f^i \, G^0_{ir} &= \partial_r \check{f} - f^0 \, (\partial_0 A_r - \partial_r A_0) + f^h \, (\partial_h A_r - \partial_r A_h) \end{aligned}$$

and thus

$$\partial_r f^0 = 0$$
  
-( $\partial_i f^h G^0_{hj} + \partial_0 f^0 G^0_{ij}$ ) =  $\partial_j f^h G^0_{ih} - f^0 \partial_0 G^0_{ij} + f^h \partial_i G^0_{jh}$   
 $-\partial_0 f^h G^0_{hi} = \partial_i \check{f} - f^0 (\partial_0 A_i - \partial_i A_0) + f^h (\partial_h A_i - \partial_i A_h)$ . QED

**2.7 Proposition.** The sheaf hol  $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is closed with respect to the special bracket. PROOF. If  $f, g \in \text{hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , then, we obtain

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}\left[\left[\!\left[f,g\right]\!\right]\right] = \left[X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}\left[f\right], X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}\left[g\right]\!\right] = \left[X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}\left[f\right], X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}\left[g\right]\!\right] = X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}\left[\left[\left[f,g\right]\!\right]\right]. \text{QED}$$

**2.8 Example.** In the special Newtonian spacetime, the sheaf hol  $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is consti-ClasSymExt-2005-07-09.tex; [output 2010-06-13; 11:42]; p.23

### 2 CLASSICAL SYMMETRIES

tuted by the special phase functions f such that

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_i f^0 &= 0 \\ \partial_0 f^0 &= -2 \,\partial_1 f^1 = -2 \,\partial_2 f^2 = -2 \,\partial_3 f^3 \\ \partial_1 f^2 &= -\partial_2 f^1 \,, \qquad \partial_1 f^3 = -\partial_3 f^1 \,, \qquad \partial_2 f^3 = -\partial_3 f^2 \\ \partial_0 f^i &= -\partial_i \breve{f} \,. \end{aligned}$$

A solution of this system is given by

$$f^0 = -2 \int a \, d^0, \qquad f^i = a \, x^i + b^i, \qquad \breve{f} = -(\frac{1}{2} \, \partial_0 a \, \sum_i (x^i)^2 + \sum_i \partial_0 b^i \, x^i + c),$$

where  $a, b^i c \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{T}, \mathbb{R}) . \Box$ 

### 2.1.3 Subalgebra of self-holonomic functions

Here, we consider special phase functions such that their holonomic prolongation is related to their differential through the cosymplectic 2–form. These special phase functions turn out to be conserved and holonomic.

We call  $f \in \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$  self-holonomic if  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f]) \Omega = df$ . We denote the subsheaf of self-holonomic functions by  $\operatorname{self}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ . Accordingly, we set

self fine
$$(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$$
  
self aff $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{aff}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$   
self map $(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \operatorname{self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

**2.9 Lemma.** If  $f \in \operatorname{self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , then  $\gamma \cdot f = 0$ , hence

 $\operatorname{self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}).$ 

PROOF. We have  $\gamma f = i(\gamma) df = i(\gamma) i(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = -i(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) i(\gamma) \Omega = 0$ . QED

**2.10 Lemma.** If  $f \in \operatorname{self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , then  $X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{ham}}[f]$ , hence

$$\operatorname{self}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,\mathbb{R})\subset\operatorname{hol}(J_1\boldsymbol{E},\,\mathbb{R}).$$

PROOF. The equality  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = df$  yields

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}[f] := \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df) = \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(\Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{hol}}[f])) \,.$$

Therefore, we have

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f] = \gamma(f'') + X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] - \gamma(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) = \gamma(f'') + X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] - \gamma(X[f])$$
$$= \gamma(f'') + X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] - \gamma(f'') = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] \cdot \text{QED}$$

**2.11 Proposition.** For each  $f, g \in \text{self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , we obtain

$$\Omega^{\flat}\Big(X^{\uparrow}{}_{\operatorname{hol}}\left[\,\left[\!\left[\,f,g\,\right]\!\right]\,\right)=d\left[\!\left[\,f,g\,\right]\!\right]\,.$$

Hence, the subsheaf self $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is closed with respect to the special bracket.

**PROOF.** It sufficies to prove that

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^{\sharp} \Big( \Omega^{\flat} \Big( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ hol }} \big[ \, \llbracket f, g \, \rrbracket \, \big] \Big) \Big) &= \Lambda^{\sharp} \big( d \, \llbracket f, g \, \rrbracket \, \big) \\ i(\gamma) \, \Big( \Omega^{\flat} \Big( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ hol }} \big[ \, \llbracket f, g \, \rrbracket \, \big] \Big) \Big) &= i(\gamma) \, \big( d \, \llbracket f, g \, \rrbracket \, \big) \, . \end{split}$$

In fact, we have

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^{\sharp} \Big( \Omega^{\flat} \Big( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right] \Big) \Big) &= X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right] - \gamma \big( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right] \big) \\ &= X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right] - \gamma \big( X \big[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \big] \big) \\ &= X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \right] - \gamma \big( X \big[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \big] \big) \\ &= X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \big] - \gamma \big( \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \big]' \big) \,. \end{split}$$

By Lemma 2.10 we have

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^{\sharp} \Big( \Omega^{\flat} \Big( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \big[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \big] \Big) \Big) &= X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}} \big[ \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \big] - \gamma \big( \llbracket f, g \rrbracket'' \big) \\ &= \Lambda^{\sharp} \big( d \llbracket f, g \rrbracket \big) \,. \end{split}$$

On the other hand, the identity  $i(\gamma)\Omega = 0$  yields  $i(\gamma)\Omega^{\flat}(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[\llbracket f,g \rrbracket]) = 0$  and the definition of the special bracket and Lemma 2.9 yield

$$i(\gamma) d[[f,g]] = i(\gamma) d(\{f,g\} + \gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f)$$
  
= {\(\gamma,f,g\)} + {\(f,\gamma,g\)} + i(\(\gamma)) d(\(\gamma(f'').g - \gamma(g'').f)) = 0.

Hence,  $\Omega^\flat(X^\uparrow{}_{\operatorname{hol}}\left[\,\left[\!\left[\,f,g\,\right]\!\right]\,\right)=d\left[\!\left[\,f,g\,\right]\!\right]\,.\,\Box$ 

Now, we state the conditions aimed at classifying the self-holonomic functions.

**2.12 Lemma.** For each  $f \in \operatorname{proj}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} i \Big( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} [f] \Big) \Omega &= G^{0}_{ij} \left( f^{0} x^{j}_{0} + f^{j} \right) d^{i}_{0} \\ &+ \left( f^{0} \left( \left( \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) + \partial_{0} G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{h}_{0} \right) \\ &- f^{i} \left( \left( \partial_{i} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{i} \right) + \left( \partial_{i} G^{0}_{jh} - \partial_{j} G^{0}_{ih} \right) x^{h}_{0} \right) \\ &- G^{0}_{ij} \left( \partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{h} f^{i} x^{h}_{0} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x^{i}_{0} \right) \Big) d^{j} \\ &+ \left( f^{j} \left( \left( \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) + \partial_{0} G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{h}_{0} \right) \right) \\ &+ \left( \partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{j} f^{i} x^{j}_{0} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x^{i}_{0} \right) G^{0}_{ij} x^{j}_{0} \right) d^{0} \,. \end{split}$$

**PROOF.** The coordinate expressions

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = f^{0} \partial_{0} - f^{i} \partial_{i} - (\partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{j} f^{i} x_{0}^{j} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x_{0}^{i}) \partial_{i}^{0}$$
  

$$\Omega = G^{0}_{ij} d^{i}_{0} \wedge (d^{j} - x_{0}^{j} d^{0}) + ((\partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0}) + \partial_{0} G^{0}_{jh} x_{0}^{h} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{k}) d^{0} \wedge d^{j}$$
  

$$+ \frac{1}{2} ((\partial_{i} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{i}) + (\partial_{i} G^{0}_{jh} - \partial_{j} G^{0}_{ih}) x_{0}^{h}) d^{i} \wedge d^{j}$$

yield

$$\begin{split} i \left( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ f \right] \right) \Omega &= f^{0} G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{j} d_{0}^{i} + f^{0} \left( \left( \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) + \partial_{0} G_{jh}^{0} x_{0}^{h} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} \right) d^{j} \\ &+ f^{j} G_{ij}^{0} d_{0}^{i} + f^{j} \left( \left( \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) + \partial_{0} G_{jh}^{0} x_{0}^{h} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} \right) d^{0} \\ &- f^{i} \left( \left( \partial_{i} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{i} \right) + \left( \partial_{i} G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j} G_{ih}^{0} \right) x_{0}^{h} \right) d^{j} \\ &- \left( \partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{h} f^{i} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x_{0}^{i} \right) G_{ij}^{0} d^{j} \\ &+ \left( \partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{j} f^{i} x_{0}^{j} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x_{0}^{i} \right) G_{ij}^{0} x_{0}^{0} d^{0} \,. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have

$$\begin{split} i \left( X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ f \right] \right) \Omega &= G^{0}_{ij} \left( f^{0} x^{j}_{0} + f^{j} \right) d^{i}_{0} \\ &+ \left( f^{0} \left( \left( \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) + \partial_{0} G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{h}_{0} \right) \\ &- f^{i} \left( \left( \partial_{i} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{i} \right) + \left( \partial_{i} G^{0}_{jh} - \partial_{j} G^{0}_{ih} \right) x^{h}_{0} \right) \\ &- G^{0}_{ij} \left( \partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{j} f^{i} x^{j}_{0} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x^{i}_{0} \right) \right) d^{j} \\ &+ \left( f^{j} \left( \left( \partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0} \right) + \partial_{0} G^{0}_{jh} x^{h}_{0} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j} G^{0}_{hk} x^{h}_{0} x^{h}_{0} \right) \\ &+ \left( \partial_{0} f^{i} + \partial_{h} f^{i} x^{h}_{0} + \partial_{0} f^{0} x^{i}_{0} \right) G^{0}_{ij} x^{j}_{0} \right) d^{0} \cdot \text{QED} \end{split}$$

**2.13 Lemma.** For each  $f \in \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} df &= (\partial_0 f^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{hk} x^h_0 x^h_0 + \partial_0 f^h G^0_{hk} x^k_0 + \partial_0 \breve{f} + f^0 \frac{1}{2} \partial_0 G^0_{hk} x^h_0 x^h_0 + f^h \partial_0 G^0_{hk} x^k_0) d^0 \\ &+ (\partial_j f^h G^0_{hk} x^k_0 + \partial_j \breve{f} + f^0 \frac{1}{2} \partial_j G^0_{hk} x^h_0 x^h_0 + f^h \partial_j G^0_{hk} x^k_0) d^j \\ &+ (f^0 G^0_{ih} x^h_0 + f^h G^0_{ih}) d^i_0 . \Box \end{aligned}$$

**2.14 Proposition.** The sheaf self $(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  is constituted by the special phase functions f such that

$$\partial_i f^0 = 0$$
  
$$f^0 \partial_0 G^0_{ij} - \partial_0 f^0 G^0_{ij} - f^h \partial_h G^0_{ij} - \partial_j f^h G^0_{ih} - \partial_i f^h G^0_{jh} = 0$$
  
$$f^0 (\partial_0 A_j - \partial_j A_0) - f^i (\partial_i A_j - \partial_j A_i) - G^0_{ij} \partial_0 f^i - \partial_j \breve{f} = 0$$
  
$$f^i (\partial_i A_0 - \partial_0 A_i) + \partial_0 \breve{f} = 0.$$

PROOF. In virtue of Lemmas 2.12 and 2.13, for each  $f \in \operatorname{proj}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , we have  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = df$ 

if and only if

$$\begin{split} f^{j} \left( (\partial_{0}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{0}) + \partial_{0}G_{jh}^{0} x_{0}^{h} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j}G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} \right) + (\partial_{0}f^{i} + \partial_{h}f^{i} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0}f^{0} x_{0}^{i}) G_{ik}^{0} x_{0}^{h} \\ &= \partial_{0}f^{0} \frac{1}{2} G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0}f^{h} G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0}\breve{f} + f^{0} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{0}G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} + f^{h} \partial_{0}G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} \\ &f^{0} \left( (\partial_{0}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{0}) + \partial_{0}G_{jh}^{0} x_{0}^{h} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j}G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} \right) \\ &- f^{i} \left( (\partial_{i}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{i}) + (\partial_{i}G_{jh}^{0} - \partial_{j}G_{ih}^{0}) x_{0}^{h} \right) - G_{ij}^{0} \left( \partial_{0}f^{i} + \partial_{h}f^{i} x_{0}^{h} + \partial_{0}f^{0} x_{0}^{i} \right) \\ &= \partial_{j}f^{h} G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{k} + \partial_{j}\breve{f} + f^{0} \frac{1}{2} \partial_{j}G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} x_{0}^{h} + f^{h} \partial_{j}G_{hk}^{0} x_{0}^{h} \right) \end{split}$$

By comparing the coefficients of the two above polynomial equalities, we obtain the following equivalent system

$$f^{j} (\partial_{0}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{0}) - \partial_{0}\breve{f} = 0$$
  
$$f^{0} (\partial_{0}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{0}) - f^{i} (\partial_{i}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{i}) - G^{0}_{ij} \partial_{0}f^{i} - \partial_{j}\breve{f} = 0$$
  
$$f^{0} \partial_{0}G^{0}_{jh} - \partial_{0}f^{0} G^{0}_{hj} - f^{i} \partial_{i}G^{0}_{jh} - \partial_{h}f^{i} G^{0}_{ij} - \partial_{j}f^{i} G^{0}_{ih} = 0. \text{ QED}$$

The system of the previous Proposition can be re-expressed in terms of an observer and the tangent lift of the projectable special phase function.

**2.15 Proposition.** Let us consider an observer o. Then, the sheaf self $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is constituted by the projectable special phase functions f such that

$$\begin{split} L\Big[X[f]\Big]\,G &= df''\,\lrcorner\,G\\ X[f]\,\lrcorner\,\Phi[o] + \nu^*[o]\Big(G^\flat\Big(L[o]\,X[f]\Big)\Big) &= d(f[o]) \end{split}$$

PROOF. We can write the system which characterises self-holonomic functions (Proposition 2.14) as

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\mu}G_{hk}^{0} X[f]^{\mu} + G_{ih}^{0} \partial_{k}(X[f]^{i}) + G_{ik}^{0} \partial_{h}(X[f]^{i}) &= \partial_{0}f^{0} G_{hk}^{0} \\ X[f]^{\mu} (\partial_{\mu}A_{j} - \partial_{j}A_{\mu}) + G_{ij}^{0} \partial_{0}(X[f]^{i}) - \partial_{j}\check{f} &= 0 \\ X[f]^{i} (\partial_{i}A_{0} - \partial_{0}A_{i}) - \partial_{0}\check{f} &= 0 \,. \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, we have the coordinate expressions

$$\begin{split} L[X[f]] G &= \left(\partial_{\mu} G^{0}_{hk} X[f]^{\mu} + G^{0}_{ih} \partial_{k} (X[f]^{i}) + G^{0}_{ik} \partial_{h} (X[f]^{i})\right) u_{0} \otimes \check{d}^{h} \otimes \check{d}^{k} \\ df'' \,\lrcorner \, G &= \partial_{0} f^{0} \, G^{0}_{hk} \, u_{0} \otimes \check{d}^{h} \otimes \check{d}^{k} \\ X[f] \,\lrcorner \, \Phi[o] + \nu^{*}[o] \left(G^{\flat} \left(L[o] \, X[f]\right)\right) = X[f]^{\mu} \, \Phi_{\mu\nu} \, d^{\nu} + G^{0}_{ij} \, \partial_{0} (X[f]^{i}) \, d^{j} \\ d(f[o]) &= \partial_{\mu} \check{f} \,. \, \text{QED} \end{split}$$

We have the following further intrinsic characterisations of self-holonomic special phase functions, which will play an important role in the classification of classical symmetries.

**2.16 Theorem.** Let  $f \in \operatorname{proj}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ . Then, the following conditions are equivalent:

1) 
$$i[X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]]\Omega = df$$
,

2)  $L[X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]]\Omega = 0$ , with  $f \in \text{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$ , 3)  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f]$ , with  $f \in \text{cons}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, I\!\!R)$ .

PROOF. 1)  $\Rightarrow$  2). Let  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = df$ . Then  $L(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega := di(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = ddf = 0$ . On the other hand, the identity  $i(\gamma) \Omega = 0$  yields  $i(\gamma) df = 0$ , i.e.  $f \in \text{cons}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ .

2)  $\Rightarrow$  3). Let  $L[X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]] \Omega = 0$ , i.e.  $di(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = 0$ .

Then, we have locally the equality  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = dg$ , with  $g \in \text{map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ .

On the other hand, the identity  $i(\gamma) \Omega = 0$  yields  $i(\gamma) dg = 0$ , i.e.  $g \in cons(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ .

As a consequence we obtain  $(\Lambda^{\sharp} \circ \Omega^{\flat})(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) = \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)$  and from this we can deduce that  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] - \gamma(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] - \gamma(f'') = \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg)$ . Hence  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = \gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(dg) := X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f'',g]$ . On the other hand, since  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]$  is projectable on  $\boldsymbol{E}$ , Theorem 1.5 implies  $g \in \text{spec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  and q'' = f''.

Hence, we obtain  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[g]$ , which yields X[f] = X[g], hence f = g + h, with  $h \in \max(\mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

On the other hand,  $f, g \in cons(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  implies  $h \in cons map(E, \mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R}$ .

Therefore, we obtain  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f]$  in the domain of definition of g, But, if the above equality holds locally, then it holds in the domain of definition of f.

3)  $\Rightarrow$  1). Let  $f \in \operatorname{cons}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ . Then, the identities concerning the linear musical isomorphisms and the identity  $i(\gamma) \Omega = 0$  yield  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{ham}}[f]) \Omega := i(\gamma(f'') + \Lambda^{\sharp}(df)) \Omega = (\Omega^{\flat} \circ \Lambda^{\sharp})(df) = df - i(\gamma) df = df$ . Hence,  $X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{ham}}[f]$  implies  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f]) \Omega = df$ . QED

**2.17 Corollary.** We have self $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \cos(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \cap \operatorname{hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .  $\Box$ 

Indeed, an even stronger result holds.

**2.18 Theorem.** We have  $\operatorname{self}(J_1 E, I\!\!R) = \operatorname{consproj}(J_1 E, I\!\!R)$ .

PROOF. The classifying systems of Proposition 2.14 and of Proposition 2.3 coincide. Hence,  $\operatorname{self}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{cons} \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ . QED

#### 2.1.4 Subalgebra of unimodular functions

Next, we consider the subalgebras of the algebra of projectable special phase functions related to the divergence of the tangent lift.

A vector field  $X \in \text{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$  is called *conformal unimodular*, or *unimodular*, if we have, respectively,  $d(\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X) = 0$ , or  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X = 0$ .

For each  $X, X \in \text{proj}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , we have  $\text{div}_{\eta}([X, X]) = X$ .  $\text{div}_{\eta} X - X$ .  $\text{div}_{\eta} X$ . Hence, the sheaves of conformal unimodular and unimodular vector fields of  $T\boldsymbol{E}$  are closed with respect to the Lie bracket.

A function  $f \in \operatorname{spec}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is said to be unimodular, or conformal unimodular if, respectively,  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X[f] = 0$ , or  $d(\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X[f]) = 0$ . The subsheaves of unimodular and conformal unimodular projectable special phase functions are denoted, respectively, by  $\operatorname{unim}(J_1\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(J_1\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$  and  $\operatorname{c-unim}(J_1\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{proj}(J_1\mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

In the above definition, we need to consider projectable special phase functions, because  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X$  is defined only for a projectable spacetime vector field X, due to the fact that  $\eta$  is a vertical form. A vector field  $X^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  is called *conformal unimodular*, or *unimodular*, if we have, respectively,  $d(\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X^{\uparrow}) = 0$ , or  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta} X^{\uparrow} = 0$ .

The sheaves of conformal unimodular and unimodular vector fields of  $J_1 E$  are closed with respect to the Lie bracket.

**2.19 Proposition.** The sheaves of conformal unimodular and unimodular special phase functions are closed with respect to the special bracket.

PROOF. If  $f, g \in \operatorname{proj}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , then we obtain

 $\operatorname{div}_{\eta}(X[\llbracket f, g \rrbracket]) = \operatorname{div}_{\eta}[X[f], X[g]] = X[g]. \operatorname{div}_{\eta}(X[f]) - X[f]. \operatorname{div}_{\eta}(X[g]). \text{QED}$ 

**2.20 Proposition.** If  $f \in \text{self fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , then  $\text{div}_{\eta}(X[f]) = 0$ , hence

self fine  $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{cons} \operatorname{fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

PROOF. The equality  $i(X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]) \Omega = df$  yields  $L[X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]] \Omega = 0$ , hence, in virtue of Proposition 1.4,  $\operatorname{div}_{\eta}(X[f]) = 0$ . QED

#### 2.1.5 Subalgebra of classic generators

Eventually, we consider the subalgebra of the algebra of special phase functions, which generates the infinitesimal symmetries of the full classical structure.

Each  $f \in \text{cons fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is called a *classical generator*. We denote the sheaf of classical generators by  $\text{clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) := \text{cons fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

**2.21 Theorem.** We have  $\operatorname{clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) = \operatorname{self} \operatorname{fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{hol}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$  and  $\operatorname{clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R}) \subset \operatorname{unim}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \boldsymbol{R})$ .

PROOF. It follows immediately from Theorem 2.18, Lemma 2.10 and Proposition 2.20. QED

By reformulating a previous result, we have the following characterisation of the classical generators.

**2.22 Corollary.** The sheaf  $clas(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  is constituted by the special phase functions f such that

$$\partial_{\lambda} f^{0} = 0$$
  
$$f^{0} \partial_{0} G^{0}_{ij} - f^{h} \partial_{h} G^{0}_{ij} - \partial_{j} f^{h} G^{0}_{ih} - \partial_{i} f^{h} G^{0}_{jh} = 0$$
  
$$f^{0} (\partial_{0} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{0}) - f^{i} (\partial_{i} A_{j} - \partial_{j} A_{i}) - G^{0}_{ij} \partial_{0} f^{i} - \partial_{j} \breve{f} = 0$$
  
$$f^{i} (\partial_{i} A_{0} - \partial_{0} A_{i}) + \partial_{0} \breve{f} = 0 . \Box$$

**2.23 Example.** In the special Newtonian spacetime, the sheaf  $clas(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  is constituted by the special phase functions f such that

$$\partial_{\lambda}f^{0} = 0$$
  

$$\partial_{1}f^{1} = \partial_{2}f^{2} = \partial_{3}f^{3} = 0$$
  

$$\partial_{1}f^{2} = -\partial_{2}f^{1}, \qquad \partial_{1}f^{3} = -\partial_{3}f^{1}, \qquad \partial_{2}f^{3} = -\partial_{3}f^{2}$$
  

$$\partial_{0}f^{i} = -\partial_{i}\breve{f}$$
  

$$\partial_{0}\breve{f} = 0.$$

For instance, a solution of this system is given by

$$\begin{split} f^{0} &= a^{0} \\ f^{i} &= b^{i}_{j} \, x^{j} + c^{i}_{0} \, x^{0} + d^{i} \\ \breve{f} &= -\sum_{1 \leq i \leq 3} c^{i}_{0} \, x^{i} + e \,, \end{split}$$

where  $a^0, b^i_j, c^i_0, d^i, e \in {\rm I\!R}$  and  $b^i_j = -b^j_i \, . \square$ 

# 2.2 Classical infinitesimal symmetries

We classify the vector fields of the phase space which are infinitesimal symmetries of spacetime and its structures.

#### 2.2.1 Infinitesimal symmetries of geometric structures

We start by defining the infinitesimal symmetries of some typical geometric structures. All concepts below are defined in such a way that the corresponding local group of diffeomeorphisms act on the geometric structure and preserve it.

We introduce the following general concepts.

1. We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of a fibred manifold  $p : \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$  to be a projectable vector field X of  $\mathbf{F}$ .

2. We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of a bundle  $q: \mathbf{G} \to \mathbf{M}$ , which is a natural prolongation of a manifold  $\mathbf{M}$ , to be the projectable vector field Y obtained by the corresponding natural lift of a vector field X of  $\mathbf{M}$ .

3. We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of a bundle  $q : \mathbf{G} \to \mathbf{F}$ , which is a natural prolongation of a fibred manifold  $p : \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$  to be the projectable vector field Y obtained by the corresponding natural lift of a vector field X of  $\mathbf{F}$ .

4. We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of a tensor  $\sigma$  of a manifold M to be a vector field X of M such that  $L[X] \sigma = 0$ .

5. We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of a covariant vertical tensor  $\sigma$  of a fibred manifold  $p: \mathbf{F} \to \mathbf{B}$  to be a projectable vector field X of  $\mathbf{F}$  such that  $L[X]\sigma = 0$ .

6. We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of an affine space A to be a constant vector field of A.

#### 2.2.2 Infinitesimal symmetries of spacetime and phase space

According to the above guideline, we introduce the infinitesimal symmetries of time, of spacetime and of the phase space as the vector fields which preserve the affine structure of time, the time fibring of spacetime and the natural 1st jet functor.

An *infinitesimal symmetry of time* is defined to be an infinitesimal symmetry of the affine structure of T, which can be regarded just as an element  $X \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$  (i.e. a constant vector field of T.)

An *infinitesimal symmetry of spacetime* is defined to be an infinitesimal symmetry of the time fibring t yielding also an infinitesimal symmetry of the affine structure of T, i.e. a vector field  $X \in \text{fine}(E, TE)$ .

An *infinitesimal symmetry of the phase space* is defined to be the infinitesimal symmetry of the 1st jet prolongation of spacetime yielding also an infinitesimal symmetry of the time fibring t and an infinitesimal symmetry of the affine structure of  $\mathbf{T}$ , i.e. the holonomic prolongation of an infinitesimal symmetry of spacetime  $X_{(1)} \in \sec(J_1 \mathbf{E}, TJ_1 \mathbf{E})$ , with  $X \in \operatorname{fine}(\mathbf{E}, T\mathbf{E})$ .

We define, respectively, a spacetime *infinitesimal symmetry* of dt and a phase *infinitesimal symmetry* of dt to be vector fields  $X \in \text{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$  and  $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{sec}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$ , such that L[X] dt = 0 and  $L[X^{\uparrow}] dt = 0$ .

**2.24 Proposition.** The infinitesimal symmetries of dt are the vector fields of the type  $X \in \text{fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$  and  $X^{\uparrow} \in \text{fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1\boldsymbol{E})$ .

PROOF. In fact, we have L[X] dt = di(X) dt and  $L[X^{\uparrow}] dt = di(X^{\uparrow}) dt$ . QED

**2.25 Corollary.** A vector field  $X \in sec(E, TE)$  is an infinitesimal symmetry of spacetime if and only if it is an infinitesimal symmetry of dt.  $\Box$ 

#### 2.2.3 Infinitesimal symmetries of the cosymplectic 2–form

We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of  $\Omega$  to be a vector field  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ , such that  $L[X^{\uparrow}] \Omega = 0$ .

**2.26 Theorem.** The infinitesimal symmetries  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  of  $\Omega$  are of the local type  $X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{ham}[\tau, f]$ , with  $\tau \in \max(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$  and  $f \in \cos(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , where f is determined up to a constant.

PROOF. Let us consider any  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  and set  $\tau := dt(X^{\uparrow}) \in \max(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ .

Then,  $X^{\uparrow}$  can be uniquely written as  $X^{\uparrow} = \gamma(\tau) + \bar{X}^{\uparrow}$ , with  $\bar{X}^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, V J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ .

Moreover, by recalling the identity  $i(\gamma) \Omega = 0$ , we obtain  $L[\gamma(\tau)] \Omega = 0$ .

Furthermore, by recalling the identity  $d\Omega = 0$ , we have  $L[\bar{X}^{\uparrow}]\Omega = 0$  if and only if  $di(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\Omega = 0$ , i.e. if and only if locally  $i(\bar{X}^{\uparrow})\Omega = df$ , with  $\gamma f = 0$ , i.e., in virtue of the results of Section 1.4.1, if and only if locally  $\bar{X}^{\uparrow} = \Lambda^{\sharp}(df)$ , with  $\gamma f = 0$ . QED **2.27 Corollary.** The infinitesimal symmetries  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  of dt and  $\Omega$  are of the local type  $X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{ham}[\tau, f]$ , with  $\tau \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$  and  $f \in \cos(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , where f is defined up to a constant.  $\Box$ 

#### 2.2.4 Infinitesimal symmetries of the classical structure

Next, we classify the infinitesimal symmetries of dt and  $\Omega$ , which are projectable on E. Indeed, the projectability condition yields an important consequence: namely, it implies that the vector field is generated by a special phase function.

**2.28 Corollary.** The infinitesimal symmetries  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  of  $\Omega$ , which are projectable on  $\boldsymbol{E}$ , are of the local type  $X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{ham}[f]$ , with  $f \in \operatorname{cons}\operatorname{spec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , where f is defined up to a constant.

PROOF. It follows from Theorem 2.26 and Theorem 1.5. QED

**2.29 Corollary.** The infinitesimal symmetries  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  of dt and  $\Omega$ , which are projectable on  $\boldsymbol{E}$ , are of the type  $X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{ham}[f]$ , with  $f \in \operatorname{cons\,fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , where f is determined up to a constant.

PROOF. It follows from the above Corollary 2.28 and Proposition 2.24. QED

**2.30 Corollary.** Let us consider a vector field  $X \in sec(E, TE)$ .

If its holonomic prolongation  $X_{(1)} \in \sec(J_1 \mathbf{E}, TJ_1 \mathbf{E})$  is an infinitesimal symmetry of dt and  $\Omega$ , then we obtain locally  $X_{(1)} = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f]$ , with  $f \in \operatorname{cons}\operatorname{fine}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R})$  and X = X[f].

PROOF. In virtue of Corollary 2.29, we obtain  $X_{(1)} = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f]$ , with  $f \in \text{cons fine}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ . On the other hand, in virtue of Proposition 1.2,  $X_{(1)}$  projects on X and, in virtue of Theorem 1.5,  $X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}}[f]$  projects on X[f]. Hence, we obtain X = X[f] and  $X_{(1)} = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}}[f]$ . QED

We can reformulate the above result in a slightly stronger way.

An infinitesimal symmetry of the classical structure is defined to be a vector field  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ , which is an infinitesimal symmetry of dt and  $\Omega$  and which is projectable on  $\boldsymbol{E}$ .

**2.31 Corollary.** The infinitesimal symmetries  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  of the classical structure are of the local type  $X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{hol}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{ham}[f]$ , with  $f \in \operatorname{cons}\operatorname{fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

PROOF. In virtue of Corollary 2.29, we obtain  $X^{\uparrow} = X^{\uparrow}_{ham}[f]$ , with  $f \in \operatorname{cons\,fine}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ .

On the other hand, in virtue of Theorem 2.21, we have  $\operatorname{cons}\operatorname{fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{self}\operatorname{fine}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ , hence  $X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{ham}}[f]$ . QED

**2.32 Proposition.** The subsheaf of infinitesimal symmetries of the classical structure is a sheaf of Lie subalgebras.

PROOF. It follows from the fact that the holonomic lift of special phase functions is a morphisms of Lie algebras and that the holonomic lift of projectable special phase functions is a morphisms of Lie algebras. QED

Of course, we can analogously prove that also the other subsheaves of infinitesimal symmetries considered above are subalgebras.

# 2.3 Classical currents

We devote this last section to the analysis of distinguished functions that are generated by symmetries of our structure.

### 2.3.1 Functions generated by a horizontal potential

Each pair consisting of a spacetime vector field X and a horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$  of  $\Omega$  yield a special phase function. This construction turns out to be an important source of special phase functions in our classical and quantum theories. Indeed, the above simple definition encodes deep aspects relating the horizontal potentials of  $\Omega$  and the classical and quantum symmetries.

Let us consider a spacetime vector field  $X \in \text{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$  and a horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow} \in \text{fib}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, T^*\boldsymbol{E})$  of  $\Omega$ .

We define the *function generated* by X and  $A^{\uparrow}$  as  $-X \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{map}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ .

**2.33 Proposition.** The function  $-X \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow}$  is a special phase function.

Its coordinate expression is  $-X \,\lrcorner A^{\uparrow} = X^0 \frac{1}{2} G^0_{ij} x^i_0 x^j_0 - X^i G^0_{ij} x^j_0 - X^{\lambda} A_{\lambda}$  and, with reference to an observer o, we have  $-X \,\lrcorner A^{\uparrow} = X \,\lrcorner \mathcal{K}[o] - \nu[o](X) \,\lrcorner \mathcal{Q}[o] - X \,\lrcorner A[o]$ .

**PROOF.** It follows from the coordinate expression of  $A^{\uparrow}$ . QED

Now, as a particular case, let us consider an  $f \in \operatorname{spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  and its tangent prolongation  $X[f] \in \operatorname{sec}(E, TE)$ .

**2.34 Corollary.** We obtain the special phase function  $-X[f] \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{spec}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$ , with observed expression  $-X[f] \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow} = f - f \circ o - X[f] \,\lrcorner\, A[o]$ . In an adapted chart, we get

$$-X[f] \,\lrcorner \, A^{\uparrow} = f^0 \left( \frac{1}{2} \, G^0_{ij} \, x^i_0 \, x^j_0 - A_0 \right) + f^i \left( G^0_{ij} \, x^j_0 + A_i \right) = f - \left( \breve{f} + f^0 \, A_0 - f^i \, A_i \right).$$

Indeed, we obtain  $X\left[ -X[f] \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow} \right] = X[f] \,. \square$ 

**2.35 Corollary.** For each observer o, the function

$$\bar{f} := f \circ o + X[f] \,\lrcorner\, A[o] = f + X[f] \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{map}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, \mathbb{R}) \,,$$

does not depend on the choice of the observer o. Therefore, the coordinate expression  $\bar{f} = \check{f} + f^0 A_0 - f^i A_i$  does not depend on the adapted chart.

**PROOF.** In fact, f and  $X[f] \,\lrcorner\, A^{\uparrow}$  do not depend on the choice of any observer. QED

For instance, we have  $-X[\mathcal{L}_0] \,\lrcorner \, A^{\uparrow} = \mathcal{L}_0 - 2 \,A_0 + G_0^{ij} \,A_i \,A_j \,, \quad -X[\mathcal{H}_0] \,\lrcorner \, A^{\uparrow} = \mathcal{H}_0 \text{ and } -X[\mathcal{P}_i] \,\lrcorner \, A^{\uparrow} = \mathcal{P}_i \,.$ 

#### 2.3.2 Nöther's theorem

The previous results on infinitesimal symmetries can be applied to the Lagrangian formalism. Here, we call in mind some of results already presented in [66] and add new results as well.

Let us consider a horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{fib}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* \boldsymbol{E})$  of  $\Omega$  and the associated Lagrangian  $\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, H^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  and momentum  $\mathcal{P} \in \operatorname{sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T^* J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ .

We define an *infinitesimal symmetry* of  $A^{\uparrow}$  to be a vector field  $X^{\uparrow} \in \sec(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, T J_1 \boldsymbol{E})$ , such that  $L[X^{\uparrow}] A^{\uparrow} = 0$ .

**2.36 Lemma.** Each infinitesimal symmetry of  $A^{\uparrow}$  is an infinitesimal symmetry of  $\Omega$ .  $\Box$ 

We can formulate the following (Nöther) theorem which relates holonomic infinitesimal symmetries of  $A^{\uparrow}$  to conserved functions. For this, let us consider an  $X \in \text{sec}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ .

We say that X is a holonomic infinitesimal symmetry of a tensor  $\phi$  of the phase space if its holonomic prolongation  $X_{(1)} \in \sec(J_1 \mathbf{E}, TJ_1 \mathbf{E})$  is an infinitesimal symmetry of  $\phi$ , i.e. if  $L[X_{(1)}] \phi = 0$ .

**2.37 Theorem.** If  $L[X_{(1)}] A^{\uparrow} = 0$ , then the 1-form  $i(X_{(1)}) \Omega \in \sec(J_1 E, T^* J_1 E)$ is exact and the function  $f := -X \,\lrcorner A^{\uparrow} \in \max(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  turns out to be a potential of  $i(X_{(1)}) \Omega$ . Moreover, we obtain  $f \in \operatorname{cons} \operatorname{self}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  and  $X_{(1)} = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{ham}}[f]$ .

PROOF. We have  $i(X_{(1)}) \Omega = i(X_{(1)}) dA^{\uparrow} = L[X_{(1)}] A^{\uparrow} - di(X_{(1)}) A^{\uparrow} = 0 - di(X) A^{\uparrow} = df$ . Hence, f is a potential of  $i(X_{(1)}) \Omega$ . Moreover, in virtue of Lemma 2.36 and Corollary 2.28, we obtain  $f \in \operatorname{cons} \operatorname{self}(J_1 E, \mathbb{R})$  and  $X_{(1)} = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{hol}}[f] = X^{\uparrow}_{\operatorname{ham}}[f]$  in the whole domain of  $A^{\uparrow}$ . QED

**2.38 Corollary.** If X is an infinitesimal symmetry of dt and a holonomic infinitesimal symmetry of  $A^{\uparrow}$ , then the potential  $f := -X \,\lrcorner A^{\uparrow} = -(X \,\lrcorner P + X \,\lrcorner L)$  of  $i(X_{(1)}) \Omega$  is a classical generator.

PROOF. It follows from the above Theorem 2.37, Corollary 2.30, the definition of classical generators and Proposition 2.24. QED

**2.39 Corollary.** If an observer  $o \in \sec(\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes T\boldsymbol{E})$  is a (scaled) infinitesimal symmetry of  $A^{\uparrow}$ , then the associated (scaled) potential of  $i(o_{(1)})\Omega$  is just the associated Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}[A^{\uparrow}, o] := -o \,\lrcorner A^{\uparrow} \in \operatorname{map}(J_1\boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{T}^* \otimes \mathbb{R})$ . In particular,  $\mathcal{H}[A^{\uparrow}, o]$  turns out to be a conserved (scaled) function.  $\Box$ 

Next, we prove that the holonomic infinitesimal symmetries of dt and of the horizontal potential are just the holonomic infinitesimal symmetries of dt and of the Lagrangian.

**2.40 Lemma.** For each  $X \in \text{fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , we have the coordinate expressions

$$L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{L} = (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) d^{0},$$
  
$$L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{P} = \partial_{i}^{0} (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) d^{i}$$

$$-\partial_i^0 (X^\mu \,\partial_\mu \mathcal{L}_0 + \partial_0 X^j \,\partial_j^0 \mathcal{L}_0 + \partial_h X^j \,x_0^h \,\partial_j^0 \mathcal{L}_0) \,x_0^i \,d^0 \,.$$

PROOF. We have

$$\begin{split} L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{P} &= (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{i} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) x_{0}^{i} \\ &- \left( (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) x_{0}^{i} \\ &+ \partial_{0} X^{i} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{i} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} - \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{i} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) d^{i} \\ &= (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{i} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) d^{i} \\ &- \left( (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) x_{0}^{i} + \partial_{h} X^{i} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) \right) d^{0} \\ &= \partial_{i}^{0} (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) - \partial_{i} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{i} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) d^{i} \\ &- \left( \partial_{i}^{0} (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) x_{0}^{i} - \partial_{i} X^{j} x_{0}^{i} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{i} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) d^{i} \\ &= \partial_{i}^{0} (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) x_{0}^{i} - \partial_{i} X^{j} x_{0}^{i} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{i} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) d^{i} \\ &- \partial_{i}^{0} (X^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{0} X^{j} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{h} X^{j} x_{0}^{h} \partial_{j}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0}) x_{0}^{i} d^{0} . \text{QED} \end{split}$$

**2.41 Proposition.** For each  $X \in \text{fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E})$ , we have the following implication

$$L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{L} = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{P} = 0. \square$$

**2.42 Theorem.** [66] For each  $X \in \text{fine}(\mathbf{E}, T\mathbf{E})$ , the following equivalence holds

$$L[X_{(1)}] A^{\uparrow} = 0 \qquad \Leftrightarrow \qquad L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{L} = 0.$$

PROOF. If  $L[X_{(1)}] A^{\uparrow} = 0$ , then, in virtue of Lemma 1.3, we have

$$L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{L} := L[X_{(1)}] i(\mathbf{g}) A^{\uparrow} = -i(\mathbf{g}) L[X_{(1)}] A^{\uparrow} + i([X_{(1)}, \mathbf{g}]) A^{\uparrow} = 0 + 0.$$

If  $L[X_{(1)}] \mathcal{L} = 0$ , then, in virtue of Section 1.3.2 and Proposition 2.41

$$L[X_{(1)}] A^{\uparrow} = L[X_{(1)}] (\mathcal{L} + \mathcal{P}) = 0 + 0. \text{ QED}$$

#### 2.3.3 Group of symmetries and momentum map

We define a momentum map for classical symmetries in our framework, by analogy with the standard symplectic and cosymplectic literature (see, for instance, [2, 18, 59, 61] and references therein).

Let us consider a Lie group  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$  and its Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} := T_{e^{\uparrow}} \mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$ , where  $e^{\uparrow} \in \mathbf{G}$  denotes the unit element of  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$ . We refer to a chart  $(\zeta^{I})$  of  $\mathbf{G}$ , defined in an open neighbouroud

of  $e^{\uparrow}$ , and to the induced basis  $(b^{\uparrow}{}_{I}) := (\partial_{I}(e^{\uparrow}))$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$ .

Let us make the following assumptions, by postulating, step by step, subsequent additional hypotheses.

0) Let us start by assuming that  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$  be a group of symmetries of the phase space. It means that  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$  acts on the phase space through a map  $\alpha^{\uparrow}: \mathbf{G}^{\uparrow} \times J_1 \mathbf{E} \to J_1 \mathbf{E}$ .

By taking the partial tangent map of  $\alpha^{\uparrow}$ , with respect to  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$ , at  $e^{\uparrow} \in \mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$ , we obtain the fibred morphism  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \times J_{1}\mathbf{E} \to TJ_{1}\mathbf{E}$  over  $J_{1}\mathbf{E}$ . Hence, for each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , we obtain the vector field  $X^{\uparrow} := \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) := (\partial \alpha^{\uparrow})_{|\xi^{\uparrow}} : J_{1}\mathbf{E} \to TJ_{1}\mathbf{E}$ , with coordinate expression  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) = \xi^{I} (\partial_{I}\alpha^{0}\partial_{0} + \partial_{I}\alpha^{i}\partial_{i} + \partial_{I}\alpha^{i}_{0}\partial_{0}^{0})$ . We can regard  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}$  as a homomorphism of IR-Lie algebras  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_{1}\mathbf{E}, TJ_{1}\mathbf{E})$ .

We define the time component of  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}$  as  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow} := dt \circ \partial \alpha^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to \operatorname{Map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}})$ . If  $\alpha^{\uparrow}$  is a free action, then  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to \operatorname{Sec}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, TJ_1 \boldsymbol{E})$  turns out to be injective.

1) Let us suppose additionally that  $\alpha^{\uparrow}$  be a group of symmetries of the phase space fibred over time. It means that

i) we have a Lie group  $\boldsymbol{G}$ , which acts on  $\boldsymbol{T}$  through a map  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}: \boldsymbol{G} \times \boldsymbol{T} \to \boldsymbol{T}$ ,

ii) we have a Lie group epimorphism  $\underline{\pi}^{\uparrow}: \boldsymbol{G}^{\uparrow} \to \underline{\boldsymbol{G}}$ ,

iii) the following diagram commutes

$$egin{array}{cccc} m{G}^{\uparrow} imes J_1 m{E} & \stackrel{lpha^{
m l}}{\longrightarrow} & J_1 m{E} \ & & & & \downarrow^{t^1} \ & & & & \downarrow^{t^1} \ m{G} imes m{T} & \stackrel{lpha}{\longrightarrow} & m{T} \end{array}$$

Let  $\mathfrak{g}$  be the Lie algebra of the the Lie group  $\underline{G}$ .

2) Let us suppose additionally that  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$  be a group of symmetries of dt. It means that, for each  $g^{\uparrow} \in \mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$ , we have  $(\alpha^{\uparrow}_{|g^{\uparrow}})^*(dt) = dt$ . This hypothesis means also that  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$  is a group of symmetries of the affine struture of  $\mathbf{T}$ .

The Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$  is a Lie algebra of infinitesimal symmetries of dt, i.e., for each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , we have  $L[\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})] dt = 0$ . Moreover, for each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , the vector field  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \in$ Sec $(J_1 \mathbf{E}, T J_1 \mathbf{E})$  has constant time component. Hence,  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to$ Fine $(J_1 \mathbf{E}, T J_1 \mathbf{E})$ .

Moreover, we obtain the equality  $\partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow} = \partial \underline{\alpha} : \mathbf{g}^{\uparrow} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ , according to the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} & \xrightarrow{\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}} & \operatorname{Fine}(J_{1}\boldsymbol{E}, \, TJ_{1}\boldsymbol{E}) \\
 T_{\underline{\pi}_{|e}} & & \downarrow \\
\mathfrak{g} & \xrightarrow{\partial \alpha} & \bar{\mathbb{T}}. \end{array}$$

3) Let us suppose additionally that  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$  be a group of symmetries of  $\Omega$ . It means that, for each  $g^{\uparrow} \in \mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$ , we have  $(\alpha^{\uparrow}_{|g^{\uparrow}})^*(\Omega) = \Omega$ .

#### 2.3 CLASSICAL CURRENTS

The Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$  is a *Lie algebra of infinitesimal symmetries* of  $\Omega$ , i.e., for each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , we have  $L[\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})] \Omega = 0$ .

Corollary 2.27 suggests the following definition.

We define a momentum map to be a map  $J^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to \operatorname{cons}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) : \xi^{\uparrow} \mapsto f$ , where  $f \in \operatorname{cons}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$  is a local potential of the 1-form  $i(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi)) \Omega$ .

In general, a momentum map is not unique. In fact, if  $i(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) \Omega$  is not exact, then its potential is determined only locally and up to a real additive constant.

4) Let us suppose additionally that we have chosen a momentum map

$$J^{\uparrow}: \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} 
ightarrow \mathrm{cons}(J_1oldsymbol{E}, \, \mathrm{I\!R})$$
 .

**2.43 Proposition.** For each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , we have

$$\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) = X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}} \left[ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right] := X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}} \left[ \partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right].$$

PROOF. The definition of momentum map yields the equality

$$d(J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) = i(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) \Omega$$
.

Hence, the results of Section 1.4.1 yield  $\Lambda^{\sharp} \left( d \left( J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right) \right) = \Lambda^{\sharp} \left( \Omega^{\flat} \left( \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right) \right) = \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) - \gamma \left( \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right)$ i.e.  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi) = \gamma \left( \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right) + \Lambda^{\sharp} \left( d \left( J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right) \right) := X^{\uparrow}_{ham} \left[ \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right]$ . QED

The above result suggests the following definition. We define the *extended momentum* map to be the map  $\tilde{J}^{\uparrow}: \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to \bar{\mathbb{T}} \times \operatorname{cons}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}): \xi^{\uparrow} \mapsto \left(\partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})\right).$ 

We define the *time scale bracket* of map $(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \bar{\mathbb{T}})$  by  $[\tau, \sigma] := \gamma(\tau) \cdot \sigma - \gamma(\sigma) \cdot \tau$ . It turns out to be a  $(\operatorname{cons}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}))$ -Lie bracket.

Then, we define the extended Poisson bracket of  $\operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}} \times \mathbb{R})$  by  $\{(\tau, f), (\sigma, g)\} := ([\tau, \sigma], \{f, g\})$ . It turns out to be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Lie bracket. Moreover, the subsheaf  $\overline{\mathbb{T}} \times \operatorname{cons}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) \subset \operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}} \times \mathbb{R}) \times \operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \overline{\mathbb{T}} \times \mathbb{R})$  turns out to be an  $\mathbb{R}$ -Lie subalgebra.

Next, we analyse the behaviour of the extended momentum map with respects to the Lie bracket of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and of the extended Poisson bracket.

Proposition 2.43 can be reformulated by saying that the following diagram commutes locally



### 2 CLASSICAL SYMMETRIES

**2.44 Proposition.** For each  $\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi'^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , we have

$$\widetilde{J}^{\uparrow}([\xi^{\uparrow}, {\xi'}^{\uparrow}]) = [\widetilde{J}^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ \widetilde{J}^{\uparrow}({\xi'}^{\uparrow})] + (0, \ k), \quad \text{where} \quad k \in \mathbb{R}.$$

PROOF. We have  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})$ ,  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi'^{\uparrow}) \in \text{Fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, J_1 T \boldsymbol{E})$ , hence  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}([\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi'^{\uparrow}]) = 0$ . Then, in virtue of Proposition 2.43, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \partial \alpha^{\uparrow} \left( [\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi'^{\uparrow}] \right) &= X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}} \left[ \partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow} \left( [\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi'^{\uparrow}] \right), \ J^{\uparrow} \left( [\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi'^{\uparrow}] \right) \right] \\ &= X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}} \left[ 0, \ J^{\uparrow} \left( [\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi'^{\uparrow}] \right) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, in virtue of Proposition 2.43, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \partial \alpha^{\uparrow} \left( [\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi'^{\uparrow}] \right) &= \left[ \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi'^{\uparrow}) \right] \\ &= \left[ X^{\uparrow}_{ham} \left[ \partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right], \ X^{\uparrow}_{ham} \left[ \partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow}(\xi'^{\uparrow}), \ J^{\uparrow}(\xi'^{\uparrow}) \right] \right] \\ &= X^{\uparrow}_{ham} \left[ \left[ (\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})), \ (\partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow}(\xi'^{\uparrow}), \ J(\xi'^{\uparrow})) \right] \right] \\ &= X^{\uparrow}_{ham} \left[ 0, \ \left\{ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ J^{\uparrow}(\xi'^{\uparrow}) \right\} \right]. \end{split}$$

Therefore, by comparing the above equalities, we obtain

$$X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}\left[0, \ J^{\uparrow}\left(\left[\xi^{\uparrow}, \xi^{\prime}\right]\right)\right] = X^{\uparrow}_{\mathrm{ham}}\left[0, \ \left\{J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\prime})\right\}\right],$$

which, in virtue of Section 1.4.3, yields  $\widetilde{J}^{\uparrow}([\xi^{\uparrow},\xi'^{\uparrow}]) = [\widetilde{J}^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}), \ \widetilde{J}^{\uparrow}(\xi'^{\uparrow})] + (0, \ k)$ , where  $k \in \mathbb{R}$ . QED

5) Let us suppose additionally that  $G^{\uparrow}$  be a group of *holonomic symmetries of spacetime*. It means that

i) the Lie group  $\boldsymbol{G} \equiv \boldsymbol{G}^{\uparrow}$  acts on  $\boldsymbol{E}$  through a map  $\alpha : \boldsymbol{G} \times \boldsymbol{E} \to \boldsymbol{E}$ ,

ii) the following diagram commutes

where  $\underline{\pi} \equiv \underline{\pi}^{\uparrow} : \boldsymbol{G} \to \boldsymbol{G}$ ,

iii) for each  $g \in \mathbf{G}$ , we have  $(\alpha^{\uparrow}_{|q})^*(dt) = dt$ ,

iv) the action  $\alpha^{\uparrow}$  is the 1-jet prolongation of  $\alpha$  with respect to  $J_1 E$ 

$$\alpha^{\uparrow} = J_1 \alpha : \boldsymbol{G} \times J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to J_1 \boldsymbol{E},$$

according to the following commutative diagram

$$egin{array}{cccc} m{G} imes J_1 m{E} & \stackrel{J_1 lpha}{\longrightarrow} & J_1 m{E} \ & & & \downarrow t^1 \ & & & \downarrow t^1 \ m{G} imes m{E} & \stackrel{lpha}{\longrightarrow} & m{E} \end{array}$$

#### 2.3 CLASSICAL CURRENTS

**2.45 Note.** By taking the partial tangent map of  $\alpha$ , with respect to  $\boldsymbol{G}$ , at  $e \in \boldsymbol{G}$ , we obtain the fibred morphism  $\partial \alpha : \boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}} \times \boldsymbol{E} \to T\boldsymbol{E}$  over  $\boldsymbol{E}$ .

We obtain  $\partial \underline{\alpha} := dt \circ \partial \alpha = \partial \underline{\alpha} \circ T \underline{\pi} : \mathfrak{g} \to \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ , according to the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{g} & \xrightarrow{\partial \alpha} & \operatorname{Fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, \, T\boldsymbol{E}) \\ T_{\pi_{|e}} & & & \downarrow \\ \mathfrak{g} & \xrightarrow{\partial \alpha} & \bar{\mathbb{T}} \end{array}$$

Hence, for each  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ , we obtain the vector field  $X := \partial \alpha(\xi) := (\partial \alpha)_{|\xi} : \mathbf{E} \to T\mathbf{E}$ , with constant time component. Its coordinate expression is  $\partial \alpha(\xi) = \xi^I (\partial_I \alpha^0 \partial_0 + \partial_I \alpha^i \partial_i)$ , with  $\partial_I \alpha^i \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Thus, we can regard  $\partial \alpha$  as a homorphism of  $\mathbb{R}$ -Lie algebras  $\partial \alpha : \mathfrak{g} \to \operatorname{Fine}(\boldsymbol{E}, T\boldsymbol{E}) . \Box$ 

**2.46 Note.** The map  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g} \times J_1 \mathbb{E} \to T J_1 \mathbb{E}$  turns out to be the holonomic prolongation of  $\partial \alpha : \mathfrak{g} \times \mathbb{E} \to T \mathbb{E}$ , i.e., for each  $\xi \in \mathfrak{g}$ , we have  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi) = (\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi))_{(1)}$ .  $\Box$ 

**2.47 Proposition.** For each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , the following facts hold.

i) The time components of  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})$  and  $J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})$  coincide, i.e.  $\partial \underline{\alpha}^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) = \left(J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})\right)'' \in \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ .

ii) The conserved phase function  $J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})$  turns out to be a special phase function; more precisely,  $J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \in \operatorname{clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{cons}\operatorname{fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}) = \operatorname{self}\operatorname{fine}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R})$ .

iii) We have  $\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{ham}} \left[ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right] = X^{\uparrow}_{\text{hol}} \left[ J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \right].$ 

iv) The spacetime vector field  $X := \partial \alpha(\xi)$  associated with  $\xi := \pi(\xi^{\uparrow})$  is the tangent lift of  $J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})$ , i.e.  $\partial \alpha(\xi) = X [J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})]$ .

PROOF. It follows from Note 2.45, Proposition 2.43, Theorem 1.5 and Theorem 2.21. QED

Thus, in the case of spacetime symmetries, the function  $J^{\uparrow}$  characterises  $\tilde{J}^{\uparrow}$ .

6) Let us consider a horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$  of  $\Omega$  and suppose additionally that  $\alpha^{\uparrow}$  preserves  $A^{\uparrow}$ . It means that  $\mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$  is a group of symmetries of  $A^{\uparrow}$ , i.e. that, for each  $g^{\uparrow} \in \mathbf{G}^{\uparrow}$ ,  $(\alpha^{\uparrow}_{|g^{\uparrow}})^*(A^{\uparrow}) = A^{\uparrow}$ .

**2.48 Note.** The Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$  is a Lie algebra of infinitesimal symmetries of  $A^{\uparrow}$ , i.e., for each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , we have  $L[\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})] A^{\uparrow} = 0.\square$ 

2.49 Proposition. The following implication holds

$$L\left[\partial\alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})\right]A^{\uparrow} = 0 \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad L\left[\partial\alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})\right]\Omega = 0$$

PROOF. We have  $L[\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})] \Omega = L[\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})] dA^{\uparrow} = dL[\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})] A^{\uparrow} = 0$ . QED

In this case, we obbtain a distinguished momentum map.

Let  $\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{P}$  be the Lagrangian and momentum associated with  $A^{\uparrow}$ , and  $\mathcal{H}[o]$  and  $\mathcal{P}[o]$  be the observed Hamiltonian and momentum associated with  $A^{\uparrow}$  and an observer o.

**2.50 Proposition.** The map  $J^{\uparrow} : \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to \operatorname{map}(J_1 \mathbb{E}, \mathbb{R}) : \xi^{\uparrow} \mapsto -(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) \, \lrcorner A^{\uparrow}$  turns out to be a momentum map whose target is defined in the domain of  $A^{\uparrow}$ .

Hence, for each  $\xi^{\uparrow} \in \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow}$ , we have the equalities

$$\begin{split} J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) &= -\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{L} - \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{P} \\ &= \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{H}[o] - \partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) \,\lrcorner \, \mathcal{P}[o] \,. \end{split}$$

For each  $\xi^{\uparrow} = \xi^I b^{\uparrow}_I$ , we have the coordinate expressions

$$J^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow}) = -\xi^{I} \left( \left( \partial_{I} \alpha^{i} - x_{0}^{i} \partial_{I} \alpha^{0} \right) \partial_{i}^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} + \partial_{I} \alpha^{0} \mathcal{L}_{0} \right).$$

PROOF. We have  $i(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) \Omega = i(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) dA^{\uparrow} = L[\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})] A^{\uparrow} - di(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) A^{\uparrow} = -di(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) A^{\uparrow}$ , hence  $-(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) \Box A^{\uparrow}$  is a potential of  $i(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) \Omega$ . Then, the expression of the above momentum map follows from the equalities  $A^{\uparrow} = \mathcal{L} + \mathcal{P}$  and  $A^{\uparrow} = -\mathcal{H}[o] + \mathcal{P}[o]$ . QED

We can exhibit a close relation between the momentum map J and the momentum  $\mathcal{P}$  in the following way.

7) Let us suppose additionally that  $G^{\uparrow}$  be a group of vertical holonomic symmetries of  $A^{\uparrow}$ . It means that the group G is the identity group of T.

**2.51 Note.** We have  $i(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) dt = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

2.52 Corollary. The momentum map of the above Proposition 2.50 becomes

$$J^{\uparrow}: \mathfrak{g}^{\uparrow} \to \operatorname{map}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \mathbb{R}): \xi^{\uparrow} \mapsto -(\partial \alpha^{\uparrow}(\xi^{\uparrow})) \,\lrcorner\, \mathcal{P}$$

PROOF. It follows immediately from the above Proposition 2.50 and Note 2.51. QED

Now, we apply the above results to a few examples.

**2.53 Example.** Let us consider a special Newtonian spacetime, the abelian group of *vertical translations*  $\boldsymbol{G} = \boldsymbol{S}$  and the group action  $\alpha : \boldsymbol{S} \times \boldsymbol{E} \to \boldsymbol{E} : (v, e) \mapsto (e + v)$ .

Of course, the Lie algebra of  $\boldsymbol{G} = \boldsymbol{S}$  is  $\boldsymbol{\mathfrak{g}} = \boldsymbol{S}$ . A horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$  of  $\Omega$  exists globally and  $\boldsymbol{S}$  turns out to be a group of holonomic symmetries of  $A^{\uparrow}$ , through the 1-jet prolongation  $\alpha^{\uparrow} := J_1 \alpha : \boldsymbol{S} \times J_1 \boldsymbol{E} \to J_1 \boldsymbol{E}$  of the action  $\alpha$ . The distinguished momentum map  $J^{\uparrow}$  associated with  $\alpha^{\uparrow}$  is the map  $J^{\uparrow} : \boldsymbol{S} \to \operatorname{Aff} \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \boldsymbol{E}, \operatorname{IR}) : v \mapsto -\mathcal{P}(v)$ , with coordinate expression  $J^{\uparrow}(v) = -v^i G_{ij}^0 x_0^j$ .  $\Box$ 

**2.54 Example.** Let us consider a special Newtonian spacetime and a complete global observer o. Hence, the observer yields the fibred isomorphism  $s[o] : \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{P}$  over  $\mathbf{T}$ . Let us consider the abelian group of *time translations*  $\mathbf{G} = \overline{\mathbb{T}}$  and the group action

 $\alpha: \overline{\mathbb{T}} \times E \to E$  given by the following commutative diagram

where we have considered the map  $\overline{\mathbb{T}} \times (\mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{P}) \to \mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{P} : (v, (\tau, p)) \mapsto (v + \tau, p).$ 

Of course, the Lie algebra of  $\mathbf{G} = \overline{\mathbb{T}}$  is  $\mathfrak{g} = \overline{\mathbb{T}}$ . A horizontal potential  $A^{\uparrow}$  of  $\Omega$  exists globally and  $\overline{\mathbb{T}}$  turns out to be a group of holonomic symmetries of  $A^{\uparrow}$ , through the 1-jet prolongation  $\alpha^{\uparrow} := J_1 \alpha : \overline{\mathbb{T}} \times J_1 \mathbf{E} \to J_1 \mathbf{E}$ . The distinguished momentum map  $J^{\uparrow}$ associated with  $\alpha^{\uparrow}$  is the map  $J^{\uparrow} : \overline{\mathbb{T}} \to \operatorname{Clas}(J_1 \mathbf{E}, \mathbb{R}) : \lambda \mapsto -(o \, \lrcorner \, A^{\uparrow})(\lambda) = \mathcal{H}(\lambda) . \square$ 

Another interesting example could be obtained by considering the angular momentum of a rigid body.

# References

- R. ABRAHAM, J. E. MARSDEN: Foundations of mechanics, Second edition, The Benjamin, London, 1978.
- [2] C. ALBERT: Le théorème de reduction de Marsden-Weinstein en géométrie cosymplectique et de contact, J. Geom. Phys., 6, n.4, 1989, 627–649.
- [3] A. P. BALACHANDRAN, H. GROMM, R. D. SORKIN: Gauge symmetries and Fiber bundles, Lect. Notes Phys. 188 Springer, Berlin, 1983.
- [4] A. P. BALACHANDRAN, G. MARMO, N. MUKUNDA, J.S. NILLSON, E. C. G. SUDARSHAN, F. ZA-CCARIA: Universal Unfolding of Hamiltonian Systems: from Symplectic structure to Fiber Bundles, Phys. Rev. D 27 (1983), 2327–ff.
- [5] K. H. BASHKARA, K. VISWANATH: Poisson Algebras and Poisson Manifolds, Research Notes in Math. 174, Pitman, London, 1988.
- [6] G. G. A. BÄUERLE, E. A. DE KERF: *Lie algebras*, Studies in Mathematical Physics, North–Holland, Amsterdam, 90.
- S. BENENTI, W. M. TULCZYJEW: The Geometrical Meaning and Globalization of the Hamilton-Jacobi Theory, in Differential Geometric Methods in Mathematical Physics, Lecture Notes in Math. 836, Springer (Berlin, 1980), 9–21.
- [8] F. CANTRIJN, M. DE LEÓN, E. A. LACOMBA: Gradient vector fields on cosymplectic manifolds, J. Phys. A 25 (1992) 175–188.
- [9] V. CATTANEO: Invariance Relativiste, Symetries Internes et Extensions d'Algébre de Lie, Thesis Université Catholique de Louvain (1970).
- [10] D. CHINEA, M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO: A canonical differential complex for Jacobi manifolds, preprint, 1997.
- [11] P. DAZORD: Integration d'algébres de Lie locale et groupoides de contact, C. R. Acad. Sci., Ser. I, Math. 320 (1995), 959–964.
- [12] M. CRAMPIN: Jet bundle techniques in analytical mechanics, Quaderni del C.N.R., G.N.F.M., N. 47, Firenze, 1995.
- [13] G. DAUTCOURT: On the Newtonian limit of general relativity, Acta Phys. Pol. B 21, 10, (1990), 755–765.
- M. DE LEON, J. C. MARRERO, E. PADRON: Lichnerowicz-Jacobi cohomology of Jacobi manifolds, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris I 324 (1997), 71–76.
- [15] M. DE LEON, J.C. MARRERO, E. PADRÓN: On the geometric quantization of Jacobi manifolds, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 26 (1993), 5033-5043. J. Math. Phys. 38 (12) (1997), 6185-6213.
- [16] M. DE LEON, P. R. RODRIGUES: Generalized classical mechanics and field theory, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1985.
- [17] M. DE LEON, P. R. RODRIGUES: Methods of differential geometry in analytical mechanics, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1989.
- [18] M. DE LEON, M. SARLEGUI: Cosymplectic reduction for singular momentum maps, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 26 (1993), 5033-5043.
- [19] M. DE LEON, G.M. TUYNMAN: A universal model for cosymplectic manifolds, Journal of Geometry and Physics 20 (1996), 77-86.

- [20] B. S. DEWITT: Dynamical Theory in Curved Spaces. I. A Review of the Classical and Quantum Action Principles, Rev. Modern Phys., 29, 3 (1957), 377–397.
- [21] H. D. DOMBROWSKI, K. HORNEFFER: Die Differentialgeometrie des Galileischen Relativitätsprinzips, Math. Z. 86 (1964), 291–311.
- [22] C. DUVAL: On Galilean isometries, Clas. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993), 2217–2221.
- [23] C. DUVAL, G. BURDET, H. P. KÜNZLE, M. PERRIN: Bargmann structures and Newton-Cartan theory, Phys. Rev. D, 31, N.8 (1985), 1841–1853.
- [24] C. DUVAL, H. P. KÜNZLE: Minimal gravitational coupling in the Newtonian theory and the covariant Schrödinger equation, G.R.G., 16, 4 (1984), 333–347.
- [25] J. EHLERS: The Newtonian limit of general relativity, in "Fisica Matematica Classica e Relatività", Elba 9-13 giugno 1989, 95–106.
- [26] R. P. FEYNMANN: Space-time approach to non-relativistic quantum mechanics, Reviews of Modern Physics, Vol. 20 (1948), 267–287.
- [27] M. FLATO, A. LICHNEROWICZ, D. STERNHEIMER: Algébres de Lie attachés á une varieté canonique, J. Math. Pures et Appl. 54 (1975), 445–480.
- [28] M. FRANCAVIGLIA, M. PALESE, R. VITOLO: Symmetries in finite order variational sequences, Czech. Math. J. 52 (127) (2002), 197–213.
- [29] P. L. GARCÍA: The Poincaré-Cartan invariant in the calculus of variations, Symposia Mathematica 14 (1974), 219–246.
- [30] C. GODBILLON: Géometrie différentielle et mécanique analytique, Hermann, Paris, 1969.
- [31] M. J. GOTAY: Constraints, reduction and quantization, J. Math. Phys. 27 n. 8 (1986), 2051–2066.
- [32] M. GOURDIN: Formalisme Lagrangien et lois de symmetrie, Gordon & Breach, Paris, 1967
- [33] F. GUIDERA, A. LICHNEROWICZ: Géometrie des algébres de Lie locale de Kirillov, J. Math. Pures et Appl. 63 (1984), 407–484.
- [34] P. HAVAS: Four-dimensional formulation of Newtonian mechanics and their relation to the special and general theory of relativity, Rev. Modern Phys. 36 (1964), 938–965.
- [35] A. JADCZYK, M. MODUGNO: An outline of a new geometric approach to Galilei general relativistic quantum mechanics, in "Differential geometric methods in theoretical physics", C. N. Yang, M. L. Ge and X. W. Zhou Eds., World Scientific, Singapore, 1992, 543–556.
- [36] A. JADCZYK, M. MODUGNO: Galilei general relativistic quantum mechanics, report, Dept. of Appl. Math., Univ. of Florence, 1994, 1–215.
- [37] J. JANYŠKA: Remarks on symplectic and contact 2-forms in relativistic theories, Bollettino U.M.I.
   (7) 9-B (1995), 587-616.
- [38] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: Covariant Schrödinger operator, Jour. Phys.: A, Math. Gen, 35, (2002), 8407–8434.
- [39] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO: Covariant Quantum Mechanics, book in preparation 2005.
- [40] J. JANYŠKA, M. MODUGNO, D. SALLER: Covariant quantum mechanics and quantum symmetries, in "Recent Developments in General Relativity, Genova 2000", Eds.: R. Cianci, R. Collina, M. Francaviglia, P. Fré Springer-Verlag, Milano, 2002, 179–201.
- [41] A. KIRILLOV: Local Lie algebras, Russ. Math. Surv. **31** (1976), 55–75.

- [42] I. KOLÁŘ, P. MICHOR, J. SLOVÁK: Natural operators in differential geometry, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1993.
- [43] K. KUCHAŘ: Gravitation, geometry and nonrelativistic quantum theory, Phys. Rev. D, 22, 6 (1980), 1285–1299.
- [44] H. P. KÜNZLE: Galilei and Lorentz structures on space-time: comparison of the corresponding geometry and physics, Ann. Inst. H. Poinc. 17, 4 (1972), 337–362.
- [45] H. P. KÜNZLE: Galilei and Lorentz invariance of classical particle interaction, Symposia Mathematica 14 (1974), 53–84.
- [46] H. P. KÜNZLE: Covariant Newtonian limit of Lorentz space-times, G.R.G. 7, 5 (1976), 445–457.
- [47] H. P. KÜNZLE: General covariance and minimal gravitational coupling in Newtonian space-time, in "Geometrodynamics", A. Prastaro Ed., Tecnoprint, Bologna 1984, 37–48.
- [48] L. LANDAU, E. LIFCHITZ: Mécanique, Éditions Mir, Moscow, 1969.
- [49] M. LE BELLAC, J. M. LEVY-LEBLOND: Galilean electromagnetism, Nuovo Cim. 14 B, 2 (1973), 217-233.
- [50] P. LIBERMANN: Sur les automorphismes infinitésimaux des structures symplectiques et des structures de contact, Colloque de géometrie différentielle globale, Bruxelles, 19.–22. Décembre 1958, Gauthier– Villars (Paris, 1959), 37–59.
- [51] P. LIBERMANN, CH. M. MARLE: Symplectic Geometry and Analytical Mechanics, Reidel Publ., Dordrecht, 1987.
- [52] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Varietés symplectiques, varietés canoniques et systemés dynamiques in Topics in Differential Geometry, Academic Press, London, 1976, 57–85.
- [53] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Les varietés de Poisson et les algébres de Lie associeés, J. Diff. Geom. 12 (1977), 253–300.
- [54] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Les varietés de Jacobi et leurs algébres de Lie associeés, J. Math. Pures Appl. 57 (1978), 453–488.
- [55] A. LICHNEROWICZ: La géometrie des transformations canoniques, Bull. Soc. Math. de Belgique 31 (1979), 105–135.
- [56] A. LICHNEROWICZ: Generalized foliations and local Lie algebras of Kirillov, Differential Geometry, Ed.: L. A. Cordero, Research Notes in Math. 131, Pitman 1985, London, 198–210.
- [57] L. MANGIAROTTI: Mechanics on a Galilean manifold, Riv. Mat. Univ. Parma (4) 5 (1979), 1-14.
- [58] L. MANGIAROTTI, M. MODUGNO: New operators on jet spaces, Ann. Fac. Scien. Toulouse, 2, 5 (1983), 171–198.
- [59] C.-M. MARLE: Lie group action on a canonical manifold, Symplectic Geometry (Research notes in mathematics), Boston, Pitman, 1983.
- [60] C. M. MARLE: *Quelques proprietés des varietés de Jacobi*, Geometrie Symplectique et Mecanique (Seminaire Sud–Rhodanien de Geometrie), J. P. Duffour, Hermann, Paris, 125–139.
- [61] J. E. MARSDEN, T. RATIU: Introduction to Mechanics and Symmetry, Texts in Appl. Math. 17, Springer, New York, 1995.
- [62] G. MARMO, C. RUBANO: Particle Dynamics on Fiber Bundles, Bibliopolis, Naples 1988.
- [63] M. MODUGNO, C. TEJERO PRIETO, R. VITOLO: A covariant approach to the quantisation of a rigid body, preprint 2005.

- [64] G. REEB: Sur certaines proprietés topologiques des trajectoires des systèmes dynamiques, Memoires Acad. Sc. Bruxelles 27 (1952).
- [65] D. SALLER: Symmetries in covariant quantum mechanics, PhD Thesis, Mannheim University,
- [66] D. SALLER, R. VITOLO: Symmetries in covariant classical mechanics, J. Math. Phys., 41, 10, (2000), 6824–6842, electronic edition: http://arXiv.org, math-ph/0003027.
- [67] D. J. SAUNDERS: The geometry of jet bundles, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1989.
- [68] J.-M. SOURIAU: Structures des systèmes dynamiques, Dunod, Paris, 1970.
- [69] A. TRAUTMAN: Sur la théorie Newtonienne de la gravitation, C. R. Acad. Sc. Paris, t. 257 (1963), 617–620.
- [70] A. TRAUTMAN: Comparison of Newtonian and relativistic theories of space-time, In "Perspectives in geometry and relativity", N. 42, Indiana Univ. Press, 1966, 413–425.
- [71] W. M. TULCZYJEW: An intrinsic formulation of nonrelativistic analytical mechanics and wave mechanics, J. Geom. Phys., 2, 3 (1985), 93–105.
- [72] W. M. TULCZYJEW: Geometric formulations of physical theories, Bibliopolis, Neaples, 1989.
- [73] N. WOODHOUSE: Geometric quantization, 2nd Ed., Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1992.